PLANNING COMMISSION
AGENDA

SEPTEMBER 14, 2023

5:01 P.M.
Commissioner’s Chambers, Okaloosa County Administrative Complex 1250 Eglin Parkway
N, Shalimar, FL 32579.
Commissioner Phyllis Enzor, District 1 Commissioner Jack Beery, District 2
Chairman Jeremy Stewart, District 3 Commissioner Vacant, District 4

Vice-Chairman Commissioner John Collins, District 5 Okaloosa County School Board Rep., Bill Smith
Eglin Air Force Base Representative, Jack Kiger

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FOR JUNE 8, 2023

D. OPEN TO PUBLIC (FOR ANY ITEMS NOT QUASI JUDICIAL ON THIS AGENDA)
E. ANNOUNCEMENTS

F. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, OR CHANGES TO THE AGENDA
G. ACCEPTANCE OF THE AGENDA

H. OATH TAKING

I. DISCLOSURES

J. OLD BUSINESS

None

K. NEW BUSINESS

a. Applications for Development Review

None

b. Public Hearings

Agenda Item #1: - 534016-BCC-2023 & 534019-BCC-2023- Consideration of a request changing the use
of land submitted by Raymond Greer, on behalf of Willow Creek Plantation, LLC, relating to property
located north of US 90 just to the east of Bob Sikes Airport and directly south of Wayne Rogers Road. The
request is to change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) from Rural Residential (RR)
to Low Density Residential (LDR). If the FLUM amendment is approved, the applicant has submitted a

1



comparnion request to rezone the property from Rural Residential (RR) to Residential-1 (R-1), or a more
resirictive zoning district. In addition to the proposed Future Land Use Map Amendment and Rezoning, a
proposed amendment to the Okaloosa County Land Development Code is also being requesied. The
proposed Land Development Code Amendment will establish Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creck
Plantation at Crestview Overlay District. Said overlay will limit the overall density of the propetty to 250
residential units, establish a height limitation, require dark sky lighting principles and provide coordination
with Eglin Air Force Base. This is the Transmittal hearing for state agency review.

Agenda Ttem # 2: 536316-BCC-2023 & 536318-BCC-2023 Consideration of a request changing the use
of land submitted by Seaside Engineering on behalf of Lucy C. McClendon, owner, relating to a portion of
parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, property located at 1275 Georgia Avenue, Baker, Florida. The request
is to change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation for the subject property
from Low Density Residential (LDR) to Commercial (C), or a more restrictive FLLUM designation. If the
FLUM amendment is approved, request to rezone the property from Residential-1 (R-1) zoning district to
General Commercial (C-3), or 2 more restrictive zoning district. The subject property contains 0.96 acres,
more or less.

L. OTHER BUSINESS

The Nevember 8, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting will be held at the Commissioner’s Chambers,
Okaloosa County Administrative Complex 1250 Eglin Parkway N, Shalimar, FL 32579

M. ADJOURNMENT



PLANNING COMMISSION
MINUTES
JUNE 8, 2023

5:01 P.M.

The regular meeting of the Okaloosa County Planning Commission was held Thursday, June 8, 2023, 5:01 p.m.,
Commissioner’s Chambers, Okaloosa County Administrative Complex 1250 Eglin Parkway N, Shalimar, FL 32579,
Board members in attendance were Jeremy Stewart, Phyllis Enzor, and Jack Beery,

Eglin Representative Scott Davidson was not in attendance,

Okaloosa County School Board representative Bill Smith was not in attendance.

Growth Management Staff in attendance were Elliot Kampert, Director, Randy Woodruff, Deputy Director, Leslie Adams,
Planner I, and Martina Barrow, Planner 1.

County Attorney Kerry Parsons was in attendance via Zoom.
Speaker recognition forms were submitted by persons wishing to speak as follows:
Agenda Item 1: Mark Siner — 53 Warwick Dr, Shalimar, FI, — Applicant
A. CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Jeremy Stewart called the meeting to order at 5:06 PM.
B. ROLL CALL
Martina Barrow conducted roll call.
C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FOR MAY 11, 2023 MEETING.

Motion to approve minutes made by Phyllis Enzor and second by Jack Beery. - 3 aves. Motion Passes.

D. OPEN TO PUBLIC (FOR ANY ITEMS NOT QUASI JUDICIAL ON THIS AGENDA)
None.
E. ANNOUNCEMENTS

None.

F. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, OR CHANGES TO THE AGENDA

None.

G. ACCEPTANCE OF THE AGENDA
[of3 JUNE 8, 2023

(SHALIMAR)



Motion to accept the agenda as written made by Jack Beery and second by Phyllis Enzor. —- 3 ayes. Motion
Passes.

. OATH TAKING

Leslie Adams administered the Oath for all speakers.
DISCLOSURES

Leslie Adams read disclosures to the Board. All replied no.
OLD BUSINESS

None

. NEW BUSINESS

None

a. Applications for Development Review

None

b. Public Hearings

AGENDA ITEM 1: 530829-BCC-2023 & 530833- BCC-2023- Consideration of a request changing the use
of land as submitted by Choctaw Engineering, agent, relating to a portion of parcels 36-15-24-0650-0004-
0070/0080 and 01-28-24-2470-0005-0010/0040, located at 112 Racetrack Road, Yort Walton Beach,
Florida. The request is to change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation
from Commercial (C) to Mixed Use (MU), or a more restrictive FLUM designation. If the FLUM
amendment is approved, request to rezone the subject property from General Commercial (C-3) district
to Mixed Use (MU) district, or a more restrictive zoning district. The subject property contains 1.47

acres.

Randy Woodruff presented Agenda Item 1 to the board.

Chairman Stewart called Mark Siner to speak.

M. Siner gave a brief description of proposed changes.

Chairman Stewart called for a motion,

Motion to recommend approval of Agenda Item I as written fo request a change to the Comprehensive Plan

Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation for the subject property from Commercial (C), to Mixed Use (MU)
or a more restrictive FLUM designation, made Phyllis Enzor and second by Jack Beery. - 3 ayes. Motion

Passes.

20f3 JUNE 8, 2023

(SHALIMAR)



Motion to recommend approval of Agendn Item 1 as written to request to rezone the property suburban
General Commercial (C-3) to Mixed Use (MU), or a more restrictive zoning district, made by Juck Beery, and
second by Phyllis Enzor. - 3 ayes. Motion Pass_es.

Randy Woodruff stated this item is tentatively scheduled for July 18, 2023 for public hearing by the Board of
County Commissioners,

- OTHER BUSINESS

‘The JULX 13, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting will be held at the Commissioner’s Chambers, Okaloosa
County Administrative Complex 1250 Eglin Parkway N, Shalimar, FL 32579,

M. ADJOURNMENT

Chairman Stewart adjourned the meeting at approximately 5:16 p.m.

W\I‘ S

Prepared by:
Martina Barrow, Recording Secretary

Date  06/09/2023

30f3 JUNE 8§, 2023

(SHALIMAR)



AGENDA ITEM 1

PLANNING COMMISSION
AGENDA REQUEST
DATE: September 14, 2023
TO: Honorable Chairman and Members of the Planning Commission
FROM: Randy Woodruff, AICP, Deputy Director
SUBJECT: 534016-BCC-2023 & 534019-BCC-2023, Request for Plan Amendment,

Rezoning, and Okaloosa County Land Development Code Amendment
establishing Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at
Crestview Overlay District.

BCC DISTRICT: (1) Commissioner Mixon

PLANNING COMMISSION DISTRICT: (1) Phyllis Enzor

PUBLIC HEARING: Consideration of a request changing the use of land submitted by
Raymond Greer, on behalf of Willow Creek Plantation, LLC, relating to property located north
of US 90 just to the east of Bob Sikes Airport and directly south of Wayne Rogers Road. The
request is to change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) from Rural
Residential (RR) to Low Density Residential (LDR). If the FLUM amendment is approved,
the applicant has submitted a companion request to rezone the property from Rural Residential
(RR) to Residential-1 (R-1), or a more restrictive zoning district. In addition to the proposed
Future Land Use Map Amendment and Rezoning, a proposed amendment to the Okaloosa
County Land Development Code is also being requested. The proposed Land Development
Code Amendment will establish Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at
Crestview Overlay District. Said overlay will limit the overall density of the property to 250
residential units, establish a height limitation, require dark sky lighting principles and provide
coordination with Eglin Air Force Base. This is the Transmittal hearing for state agency review.

BACKGROUND:

o The proposed FLUM amendment is classified as a Type - 1 Plan Amendment which involves
properties over 50 acres or more in size. Type - 1 Amendments must be transmitted to the
State Planning Agency for review (Exhibit 1, Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan
Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment Application).

o The subject property is 181 acres in size; yet the applicant is proposing a FLUM
Amendment, Rezoning, and Overlay District for just 125 acres as defined within
Attachment M, Legal Description. The subject property is legally described as a portion of
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000 and is currently vacant.



e The proposed amendment would allow for a 125-acre site to be developed as low-intensity,
low density, single family use development to meet the need for additional housing units
(Exhibit 2 - Applicants Comprehensive Plan Analysis).

e The property is located within the Rural Residential (RR) Future Land Use (FLU) Category
and the Rural Residential (RR) Zoning District. Location/Designation criteria for both the
existing and proposed Future Land Use categories are expressed in the Comprehensive Plan,
Future Land Use Element, Policy 10.1 (Exhibit 2 - Applicants Comprehensive Plan
Analysis).

o The purpose of the existing Residential Rural (RR) Zoning District is to provide areas for
low-density residential land use and development that is not directly related to agricultural
use but still provides an opportunity for residential living in a rural setting which may include
agricultural uses and activities as well as hobby farms, ranchettes, or estate lots. The intent of
the RR district is to implement and put into regulatory effect the provisions of the "rural
residential" future land use category as established in the comprehensive plan.

e The purpose of the proposed Residential-1 (R-1) Zoning District is to provide areas for
single-family detached residential dwellings, customary accessory uses, and limited non-
residential uses. The intent of the R-1 district is to implement and to put into regulatory effect
the provision of the "low density residential" future land use category as established in the
comprehensive plan.

e [Dvaluation guidelines and criteria for Type - 1 amendments are specified in the
Comprehensive Plan, Administration Element, Policy 1.15. The proposed amendment was
found to be generally consistent with the specified guidelines and criteria.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS:

A, Type of Request

The application package contains a proposed amendment to Okaloosa County Comprehensive
Plan Future Land Use Map. The amendment proposes to change a total of 125 acres from the
Rural Residential (RR) land use category to the Low-Density Residential (LDR) land use
category on the Okaloosa County Future Land Use Map. In addition to the proposed Future Land
Use Map amendment a proposed amendment to the Land Development Code is also being
requested in conjunction with the Future Land Use Map amendment. The proposed Land
Development Code amendment will establish Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creck
Plantation at Crestview Overlay District. Said overlay will limit the overall density of the
property to 250 residential dwelling units, establish a height limitation, require dark sky lighting
principles and provide for coordination with Eglin Air Force Base. The amendment area is
located north of U.S. 90 just to the east of Bob Sikes Airport and to the south of Wayne Rogers
Road. Access to the site will be from Wayne Rogers Road. The applicant is currently
coordinating with Okaloosa County to utilize a secondary access from Fairchild Road.

B. Map Amendment

The request is for an amendment to Okaloosa County’s Future Land Use Map for a site
consisting of approximately 125 acres, The site currently has Rural Residential land use
designation. This request is to redesignate the site’s Rural Residential portion (125 acres) as Low

2



Density Residential. The Airport Compatibility (AC.5) land use designated portion of the site
will remain unchanged. The Bxisting Future Land Use Map and the Proposed Future Land Use
Map are included in Table 1; which identifies the total acreage, and the existing and proposed

land uses for the amendment area.

Table 1: Existing and Proposed Future Land Use Classifications

Future Land Use Categories within | Acres
the Proposed Amendment Area

Existing Proposed Change
Rural Residential (RR) 125 0 -125
Low Density Residential (LDR) 0 125 +125
Total 125 125 0

C. Property Description

The subject site is approximately 125 acres consisting of a Rural Residential land use on the
Okaloosa County Future Land Use Map. The zoning designation of the site is also Rural

Residential (RR).

The subject property is vacant and adjacent to vacant tracts on south, west and east. The property
to the north contains a platted single-family subdivision. The property to the north has a future
land use designation of Rural Residential. The land to the east and south has a land use of
Agriculture (AG), and the land to the west consists of land with Airport Compatibility (AC.5)
land use designations. These land uses are shown on the Adopted Future Land Use Map in Table

2, below,

Table 2: Subject Site and Adjacent Property Land Uses

Future Land Use | Zoning Districts
Designations

Subject Property (125 acre) | Rural Residential (RR) Rural Residential (RR)

North Rural Residential (RR) Rural Residential (RR)

South Agricultural (AG) Agriculture (AA)

East Agricultural  (AG) and | Agriculture (AA) and Rural
Rural Residential (RR) Residential {RR)

West Airport Compeatibility | Airport Compatibility
(AC.5) (AC.5)

Source: Okaloosa County GIS Department (August 2023)



D. Natural Resources

The proposed amendment site is located north of 1.8, 90 in unincorporated Okaloosa County.
Access fo the site will be from Wayne Rogers Road. The project site terrain ranges from 156 feet
to 81 feet with higher elevations near the north and west portions of the property. The southeast
portion of the property is lowest portion of the property with Bends Creek running along the

corner of the property.

The subject property has five (5) soil types on the property as identified on the Soils
Classification Map in Table 3. A description of the soil type is listed below.

Table 3: Soil Types

Soil Map Unit Symbol Soil Unit Composite Name Acres
6 Dorovan Muck, Frequently Flooded 7.0
12 Lakeland Sand, 0 to 5 Percent Slopes 9.2
13 Lakeland Sand, 5 to 12 Percent Slopes 7.5
37 Bonifay Sand, 5 to 8 Percent Slopes 48.9
43 Kinston Johnston and Bibb Soils 52.1

Doorman Muck — Donovan Muck is nearly level, very poorly drained soils that are organic
throughout. These soils are often found in large hardwood swamps and on flood plains along
drainageways in the southern part of the County.

Lakeland Sands — 0-5% slopes — This nearly level or gently sloping, excessively drained soil is
on broad ridgetops in the uplands. Permeability is rapid; runoff'is slow,

Lakeland Sands — 5 to 12% slopes — This excessively drained soils usually leads to drainage
ways and around depressions. Permeability is rapid; runoff is slow.

Bonifay Sands — 5 to 8% slopes — This sloping or strongly sloping, well drained soil is on side
slopes in the uplands. Individual areas range from about 10 to 60 acres in size.

Kinston Johnston and Bibb Soils — These soils are frequenily flooded and poorly drained.

E. Floodplains

The majority of the 125-acre amendment area is outside of the 0.2% chance annual flood or is
located in an “A” zone where no base flood elevation has been determined. A portion of the
property along the eastern side is located within a floodway and includes Zone AE. This area is

approximately 30.4 acres.

F. Wildlife Species

The area may support a variety of wildlife species. These may include Florida pine snakes,
gopher tortoises, gopher frogs, Sherman’s fox squirrel, and potential habitat for the Florida Black
Bear. Policies 4.1 and 7.1 of Section 2.10 the Conservation Element in the Okaloosa County

4




Comprehensive Plan addresses state threatened or endangered wildlife habitat. The applicant wiil
perform all habitat analysis at the development stage.

G. Wetlands

As demonstrated on the Wetlands Map in Section VIII, there are a few wetlands on the proposed
amendment site. There is a portion of the site located along the eastern edge that is designated
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland, comprising approximately 16.2 acres. The wetland appears
to tie into the Bends Creek waterbody.

H. Historic and Cultural Resources

The applicant has requested preliminary cultural and archacological resource information from
the Florida Master Site File (FMSF), Division of Historical Resources.

1. Public Facilities and Services

The public facilities analysis is based on a maximum development scenario, which evaluates the
worst-case scenario. Proposed land uses were evaluated as if the maximum amount of

development allowed would ultimately be built-out.

Table 4; Existing and Proposed Development Scenario

Scenario | Land Use | Maximum Size of Development
Designation Allowed
Density
Acres Maximum
Allowed
Development
Allowed/ | Rural Residential | 2 du/ 1 acres | 125 250
Existing | (RR); minimum half
acre lots
Overlay | Single-Family 2 du/acre* 125 250
District * | Residential-1  (R-1);
minimum quarter acre
lots

* Overlay density limit of two (2) dwellings per acre.

Based on the development proposal shown in the above table, which assumes all of the proposed
development occurs at the maximum density allowed, the proposed land use change would not
result in a net increase of additional dwelling units.

The following analysis is based upon the availability of, and actual and anticipated demand on,
facilities and services serving or proposed to serve the subject property. The analysis evaluates
the effect of the demands on the level of service standards adopted within the Okaloosa County

5



Comprehensive Plan and identifies any anficipated facility improvements. Facilities and services
include potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, and transportation.

1. Potable Water
The central water service provider for the amendment site is Auburn Water Services. The

permitted capacity for Auburn Water Service is 6,537,000 gallons per day (gpd). Flow rates
obtained from Auyburn Water Service indicate that the facility is currently running at
approximately 2,100,000 gpd. A conservative two-percent growth rate was used to project future
water demand created throughout through the year 2033,

Okaloosa County has adopted a Level of Service (LOS) standard for potable water of 100
gallons per capital per day for residential uses. The average household size for Okaloosa County
based on the 2023 Bureau of Economic and Business Research data is 2.49 persons per

household.

As Table 5 shows that the facility will have adequate capacity to absorb the increase in potable
water demand.

Table 5: Potable Water Capacity Analysis

Year Permitted | Average Project Total Percent
Capacity Demand Pemand Demand Utilized
(gpd) (gpd) (gpd) (gpd)

2023 6,537,000 2,100,000 62,300 2,162,300 | 33%

2028 6,537,000 2,318,570 62,300 2,380,870 | 36%

2033 6,537,000 2,559,888 62,300 2,622,188 | 40%

Source: Aubum Water Services, INC.,

2, Sanitary Sewer

Development proposed at the amendment site would send their wastewater to the Jerry D.
Mitchem Reclamation Facility. The Jerry D. Mitchem Reclamation Facility has the permitted
capacity for 1,000,000 gpd. Flow rates obtained from the Okaloosa County indicate that the

facility is currently running at approximately 130,000 gpd,

A conservative two-percent growth rate was used to project future water demand created
throughout the year 2033. Okaloosa County has adopted a Level of Service (LOS) standard for
sanitary sewer of 100 gallons per capital per day for residential uses. The average household
size for Okaloosa County based on the 2023 Bureau of Economic and Business Research data is

2.49 persons per household.

As Table 6 shows that the facility will have adequate capacity to absorb the increase in
wastewater demand.



Table 6: Sanitary Sewer Capacity Analysis

Year Permitted | Average Project Total Percent
Capacity Demand Demand Demand Utilized
(gpd) (gpd) (gpd) (gpd)

2023 1,000,000 130,000 62,300 912,300 19%

2028 1,000,000 143,531 62,300 205,831 21%

2033 1,000,000 158,469 62,300 220,769 22%

Source: Okaloosa County

J. - Transportation

The proposed map amendment is estimated to generate 2,344 daily trips and 235 more PM
peak-hour two-way trips. As the capacity analysis documented in this report indicates, the
additional development intensity proposed as past of the comprehensive plan amendment is
not anticipated to create any future roadway deficiencies within the short-term or long-term
planning horizons (see Exhibit 3, Transportation Analysis).

K. Stormwater

Okaloosa County has adopted Level of Service (LOS) standards within the Comprehensive Plan
that apply to water quantity and water quality for evaluating impacts associated with
developments. The LOS standards for water quantity indicate that post-development runoff shall
be no greater than predevelopment runoff.

Okaloosa County’s LOS standards for water quality are as follows:
The LOS standards for stormwater management shall be:

a. Single-Family Detached Residential Subdivisions: Post development runoff shall not exceed
the pre-development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including
an event with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration;

b. All Other Development: The first one (1) inch of runoff from the property shall be retained
on the site of the development and post development runoff shall not exceed the pre-
development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including an event
with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration; and

c. A “pop off’ shall be provided for stormwater runoff beyond the above requirements. The
developers must provide a pop off to an outfall with adequate capacity to handle additional
stormwater runoff and must document that the pop off to the outfall has been authorized by
the owner of the outfall system. If no pop off is available the stormwater storage facility shall



be designed with a minimum capacity to retain a storm event of one hundred (100)-year
frequency up to and including a twenty-four (24)-hour dutation for post development.

I.. Solid Waste

Okaloosa County maintains a franchise agreement with Waste Management for household trash,
recyclables, and yard waste at curbside disposal in the unincorporated areas of the county. The
County adopted a residential level of service standard for solid waste of 6 pounds per person per

day (PPPPD).

Table 7: Solid Waste Generation Analysis

Year Number of | Number of | Level of | Total Demand
Dwelling residents Service
Units

2033 250 623 6 (PPPPD) 3,738 (PPPPD)

K.  Urban Sprawl Analysis and Justification

Chapter 163.3177(6)(9)(a), Florida Statutes, provides a thirteen-point list of indicators to help in
the evaluation of whether a proposed Future Land Use change would constitute urban sprawl. An
analysis of the thirteen points as applied to the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan
amendment was provided by the applicant (see Exhibit I, Okaloosa County Comprehensive
Plan Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment Application).

In addition to 163,3177(6)(9)(a), F.S., Chapter 163.3177(6)(9)(b) of the Florida Statutes provides
an eight-point list of development patterns and urban forms. If the proposed amendment
incorporates four or more of the development patterns or urban forms, it is determined to
discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. The four patterns and/or forms that best describes
the proposed amendment are defined within Exhibit 2 - Applicants Comprehensive Plan
Analysis Exhibit 2, Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan Large Scale Future Land Use Map

Amendment Application.

L. Consistency Analysis and Justification

Staff is of the opinion that the proposed FLLUM amendment is consistent with the Future Land
Use Element and other affected elements of the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan. The
following is a specific description of how the proposed FLUM amendment is consistent with the
significant subject areas of the Future Land Use, Stormwater, Conservation, Recreation and
Open Space, and the Capital Improvements Element of the Okaloosa County Comprehensive

Plan:



Policy 9.2

In the evaluation of proposed land use amendments for land in the “agricultural” or “rural
residential” categories, the application shall demonstrate the following:

a. the need for such land nse amendment;

b. the amendment will not result in urban sprawl;

c. a functional relationship of the proposed amendment to other more densely or intensely
designated or development lands;

d. the availability of facilities and services for a more depse or intense land use; and e. the
relationship of the proposed amendment site to the urban development area boundary

Development of the proposed amendment area meets all four of those criteria. This amendment
shows that there is a need for additional housing and that the subject site’s location next to
existing industrial and other residential future land uses indicates that this proposal is not urban
sprawl. It has a functional relationship to other properties with similar land uses and does not
extend facilities and services outside of functional areas.

Policy 9.4
Land use plan amendments will not alter the boundaries of the various water and sewer

service areas, as depicted on the Water and Sewer Service Area Map, unless such alteration
is pursuant to a currently existing or subsequently entered into written agreement, entered
into between the County, a municipality or some other water and sewer service provider,
which governs such boundary change.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above requirement. The
proposed amendment is located in the Auburn area on the Water Service Area Map and the
Olaloosa County Sanitary Sewer Service area in the Future Land Use Flement of the Okaloosa

County Comprehensive Plan.

Objective 14
Insofar as possible implement the recommendations presented in the Eglin Air Force Base

Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) through a combination of amendments to this Plan, revisions
to the Land Development Code (LDC), and any other codes as considered necessary,

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above requirement, The
proposed amendment is recommending an amendment to the Okaloosa County Land
Development Code; creating Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at
Crestview Overlay District, which includes sub area policies to ensure compatibility with Eglin

Air Force Base and its mission.



STORMWATER FLEMENT

Policy 2.3
The LOS standards for stormwater management shall be: a. Single-Family Detached

Residential Subdivisions: Post development runoff shall not exceed the pre-development
runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including an event with a
twenty-four (24)-hour duration; b. All Other Development: The first one (1) inch of runoff
from the property shall be retained on the site of the development and post development
runoff shall not exceed the pre-development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm
event, up to and including an event with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration; and c. A “pop
off” shall be provided for stormwater runoff beyond the above requirements. The
developers must provide a pop off to an outfall with adequate capacity to handle additional
stormwater runoff and must document that the pop off to the outfall has been authorized
by the owner of the outfall system. If no pop off is available the stormwater storage facility
shall be designed with a minimum capacity to retain a storin event of one hundred (100)-
year frequency up to and including a twenty-four (24)-hour duration for post development.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above stormwater management
guidelines and principles.

CONSERVATION ELEMENT

Objective 2
Conserve, appropriately use, and protect the quality of waters that flow into the bay,

bayous, or Gulf of Mexico through appropriate land wse planning, regulation, and
education and through cooperation with environmental planning and regulatory agencies.

Policy 2,1
Increases in land use density and intensity shall be restricted within wetlands, and
development in wetland areas shall be subject to the following provisions:

a. Where sufficient uplands exist to locate the proposed development in the upland portion
of the site, the County may allow the transfer of development at the future land use
densitics established on the Future Land Use Map from the wetlands to the upland portion
of the site, The transfer of density may occur provided all other plan provisions regarding
upland and floodplain resource protection, compatibility of adjacent land use, stormwater
management and setbacks, etc. are met.

b. Where sufficient uplands do not exist to avoid a taking, development in the wetlands
shall be restricted to allow residential density use at a maximum density of one (1} unit per
ten (10) acres, one (1) unit per five (5) acres, or one (1) unit per lot of record.

10



C. The dwelling unit shall be constructed so that the lowest floor elevation is at least one (1)
foot above the base flood clevation as established by the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps

for those wetlands that are also within the floedplains,
d. Okaleosa County does not duplicate the rules of other environmental agencies.
Therefore, prior to construction in jurisdictional areas, all necessary permits must have

been issued by the agency or agencies having jurisdiction.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above requirement.

Policy 4.1

No development order ox permit shall be approved if construction pursuant to the permit
would threaten the life or habitat of any species listed on the Federal Endangered Species
Inventory or any species designated "threatened" or "species of special concern" either by

the State or Federal governments.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above language regarding
threatened and endangered species prior to getting any type of development approval.

RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE ELEMENT

Policy 3.4

In addition to open space provided through natural reservations, protected environmental
lands, and stormwater management areas, the County shall ensure open space through
regulations in the Land Development Code which shall contain requirements for open
space in developments by use of landscape and setback regulations.

Development will only be permitted on the most suitable parts of a development site, while
avoiding development of environmentally sensitive areas and also helping ensure compatible

amounts of open space.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT

Objective 5
Okaloosa County shall take specific action to coordinate the use of unincorporated Iand

with capital expenditures scheduled within the Comprehensive Plan Elements in order to
accommodate future anticipated population.

A complete public facilities analysis is included in Section VI of applicants Comprehensive Plan
Analysis report. Any impacts above the adopted level of service standards shall be mitigated for

when the property is proposed for development.

11



Section 3.11.00. 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at Cresiview Overlay District

In addition to the proposed Future Land Use Map Amendment and Rezoning, a proposed
amendment to the Okaloosa County Land Development Code is also being requested. The
proposed Land Development Code Amendment seeks to create Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre
Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Overlay District. Said overlay will limit the overall
density of the property to 250 residential units, establish a height limitation, require dark sky
lighting principles and provide coordination with Eglin Air Force Base.

3.11.0 125-ACRE WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION AT CRESTIVIEW OVERLAY
DISTRICT

3.11.01 Purpose: The purpose of this section is to implement and put into regulatory effect
specific development related requirements that will apply to a 125-acre parcel, located directly
south of Wayne Rogers Road and consisting of a portion of Parcel ID Numbers: 01-3N-23-0000-
0003-0000. The 125-acre parcel is located within the Eglin Air Force Base (AFB) Low Level

Flight Corridor.

3.11.02 Application: The following restrictions are hereby established for the 125-Acres.

1) The 125 acres shall be limited to 250 residential dwelling units.

2) Residential height shall be limited to a maximum of 35 feet and non-residential uses such as
communication structures, and electric utility transmission facilities shall be limited to a
maximum height of 150 feet.

3) At the time of a subdivision of the 125-acres, the land owner or developer shall provide a
disclosure to its purchasers, both in the contract of sale and in the recorded covenants, which
describes that the property is located within of the Eglin Air Force Base Low Level Flight
Corridor and the significance of the Corridor and notifies the customers that resulting affects
from potential noise and vibration from the operations of Eglin Air Force Base may affect their
enjoyment of the property. This disclosure will also detail any possible radio frequency
interference. The disclosure form and subdivision covenants and restrictions shall be provided to
the County prior to issuance of the final subdivision plat and shall be recorded in the official
records of Okaloosa County, Florida no later than 60 days following final plat approval.

4) The landowner or developer shall coordinate with Okaloosa County and Eglin Air Force Base
the construction of any communications towers and any other communications facilities that may
adversely impact the operations of the Eglin AFB.

5) The property shall be developed and required to utilized and maintain Dark Sky Lighting
requirements for all outdoor lighting fixtures. The Dark Sky Lighting requirements will be a
condition of each development order. The proposed Dark Sky Lighting plan shall be submitted at
the development order stage and shall be coordinated and reviewed by Eglin Air Force Base

prior to approval.

12



6) All subdivision plats within the overlay district shall be subject to and contain the following
language:

No use of land, water, or airspace within the Overlay shall:

a) Create electrical interference between Eglin AFB/Reservation and aircraft, missiles or any
other associated military or civilian activities.

b) Create glare, artificial light, smoke or dust, or reflect light in such a way that may impair pilot
visibility at any time.

c) Create forage or nesting environments that increase the potential for bird/wildlife aircraft
strike hazards within Eglin AFB critical approaches.
d) Endanger or interfere with the landing, departure or maneuvering of aircraft using Eglin

AFB/Reservation.

7) Any proposal or request to amend the density, height, lighting restrictions or standards listed
in this overlay shall be provided and coordinated through Okaloosa County Growth Management

for Eplin AFB compatibility review.

PUBLIC COMMENT/OPPOSITION: The applicant has received an email of support from
Eglin Air Force Base (see Attachment N). Staff has not received any other public

comment/opposition to date.

STAFF POSITION: Staff has no objection to the proposed FLUM Amendment, Rezoning, and
the proposed amendment to the Okaloosa County Land Development Code by creating Section
3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Overlay District; herein referenced as
534016-BCC-2023 & 534019-BCC-2023.

PUBLIC NOTICE: The proposed agenda item was properly advertised in the Northwest Florida
Daily News on August 30, 2023; and public notice, via certified, return-receipt letters, were
provided to all property owners within 300-foot radius per Section 1.11.02, of the Okaloosa
County Land Development Code (see Attachments H & I).

RECOMMENDATIONS: It is recommended that the Board consider the facts presented
herein, as well as any facts that may be presented at the public hearing, and then make three (3)
separate recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners, with the Future Land Use

Amendment being first as follows:

First Motion: Recommend approval of an ordinance changing the Future Land Use Map
designation for that portion of the subject property, legally described as a portion of 01-3N-23-
0000-0003-0000, from Rural Residential (RR) to Low Density Residential (LDR), or a more
restrictive FLUM designation.

Second Motion: Recommend approval of an ordinance changing the zoning designation for that
portion of the subject property, legally described as a portion of 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000,

13



from Rural Residential (RR) to Residential-1 (R-1), or a more restrictive zoning district.

Third Motion: Recommend approval of an ordinance amending the Okaloosa County Land
Development Code by creating Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview

Overlay District.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS: Transmittal hearing is scheduled to go before
the Board of County Commissioners on October 3, 2023,

ATTACHMENTS:

A —Location Map

B — Aerial Map

C — Existing Land Use Map

D - FLUM/Zoning Map

E — Proposed FLUM/Zoning Map

F —1 Mile FLUM/Zoning Map

G — GIS Analysis Results

H — Legal Advertisement — Future Land Use Map & Rezoning

I- ILegal Advertisernent — 125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Overlay District
J — Future Land Use Ordinance

K -~ Zoning Ordinance

L — Section 3.11.00, “125-Acre Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Overlay District
Ordinance”

M — Legal Description

N — Eglin Air Force Base Email of Support

EXHIBITS:
1 — Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment

Application
2 — Applicant’s Comprehensive Plan Analysis
3 — Applicant’s Transportation Analysis

14



A PORTION THEREOF ATTACHMENT
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000 “
el e P ;( e "t e 9 mxﬁ"& L-T..\___hi

3 !g_ rs = ., e \\L_‘
‘ '?““’":{\-., s - 5 \ \:t

N b ] y
1 GAR ) . LU
N " \ {

A5y \ \g B 5 \ d
v : - \ : o
n [ _ = P S fea /——7}
LN iz ;‘}; 2 g o \“g o J:j/ £ L
- M A 9 r A
VeSS e | & O\ S
i ‘H\"" S i Y ;‘? v e ¢
g R ‘;:‘\ >3 ?f,& 3
./ 5 .
e &L, § ‘}i“ 1% 2y r[ i T L\
jﬁ“‘” ol i
L 9 { | ] B

; % "-‘i ] ‘:‘c‘f ‘! = 1” }- ‘ 1 . i
=) Yo g i i : ) \

-\ A J%f? ; _ll.. al: . ;%}\ { L. “{ I . \f
ML § & ;
b {

e
E 2 ; H 5 :: .
: ‘ 4 S - : : \ 3 e VY
] ( N 1"‘.'{/‘\__ Aty 2 A"\.u;"-\ . LN N 4—"5‘}1_ ‘ o \J\:t" .
- l' ; ! ’ ) - \ ; ; e 3 . » 3 o ~ L3
3 e i § -

. P
SUBJECT PROPERTY | Y




ON THEREOF ATTACHMENT

=
(>
o
2
o
=
-
S
-
—
-
=<
D
o
o
<<
-

Legend

[ l Parcel L

Ines

Aerial Photo



A PORTION THEREQF ATTACHMENT

01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000

C

T
) 2
£

rA) A e

L (PRt

N P

- oy

A

\\.,,7 Pr—
P,
i

4

4, 726368
14.554.

MUNICIPAL
fl‘lMBERLAI‘-

\ (VACANT
[SINGLE FAM| ¢
8.88753%

g%

(VACANT
_5.823265

(TIMBERLAND
21.902528

g

'VACANT

p 1.229466
NO AG ACRE
14.60472

14.542843

[TIMBERLAND

_|NO AG ACRE
14.445408

)
)
J

1

O AG ACRE
14.477616

=

NO AG ACRE
13.239748

Nl

MMON

e FAM

9.970737

LAND

N

521685

l L

(TIMBERLAND

_|TIMBERLAND ﬁ

1

466.254228

]

74.855603 IMBERLAND

. 80.423416

] §

Existing Land Use Map



A PORTION THEREOF ATTACHMENT
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000 °
- “- 5 : _l: _____‘__,,_T_f 'l B i oS e .

!

SUBJECT PROPERTY

-‘ ELUM Leg'\end - '— e ZON "
RR [ Ac-5 N . ' RR [ Ac-5
B e @ o

FLUM & Zoning Map




A PORTION THEREOF ATTACHMENT
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000  °

SUBJECT PROPERTY

ZONE Legend
L 'RR - AC-5

R-1

Proposed FLUM & Zoning Map



A PORTION THEREOF ATTAGHMENT

I

01 -3N-23- 0000-0003 0000
= ;ﬁ’x;,a I ] |

S .
o =1
e

pRey
1{RR
!

| SUBJECT PROPERTY

ZONE Legend

RR | AC-1

1 Mile FLUM & Zoning Map



ATTACHMENT G

GIS ANALYSIS RESULTS

Date: 7/10/2023
Project: A PORTION THEREOF 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000

Permit: 534016-BCC-2023 & 534019-BCC-2023 - WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION AT

CRESTVIEW
Property Address: LOCATED AT THE END OF WAYNE ROGERS RD CRESTVIEW

Zoning: RR & AC -5

Proposed Zoning: R-1 & AC -5

FLU: RR & AC -5

Proposed FLU: LDR & AC -5

Fire District: NORTH OKALOOSA Commissioner District: 1 Census Tract: 20400

Soil Type: 6—Dorovan — nearly level, very poorly drained soils that are organic — usually in freshwater swamps or drainage

12 —Lakeland sand - 0 to 5% slope, excessively drained, permeability is rapid, the available water capacity is very slow, and
runoff is slow.

[3 - Lakeland sand — 5 to 12% slope, excessively drained soils usually leads to drainage weys and around depressions,
permeability is rapid, the available water capacity is very slow, runoff is slow.

25— Troup Sand — 8 to 12 percent slopes, well drained soil

27 — Urban Land — natural soil cannot be observed

37 -Bonifay Sand — 5 to 8% slope, well drained, permeability is rapid in the surface and subsurface layer, landfills or septic

tanks should have limitations
Wind Zone: LESS THAN 140

Flood Zone: YES Map Number: 12091CO 170J

Storm Surge Area: NO

Urban Development Area: NO Water Efficient Area: NO

Wells: None

Environmental Data: NO Historical Data: None

Wetlands: Uplands & Wetlands

Water and Sewer: AWS Withio 3 mile of an Airport: YES



I

*ﬁl".ﬂ’i

IONS THEF

g;fw:%

o

ATTACH

MENT H



ATTACHMENT |

%?guﬁ JERUAYD 'ﬁfé

g o

Y ~,.' ERLA
¥ %0 ?Ifi% DING

o o

-

R N



ATTACHMENT 4

ORDINANCE 24 -

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OKALOOSA
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND
USE MAP, ORDINANCE 90-01 AS AMENDED;
CHANGING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP
DESIGNATION OF A PORTION OF PARCEL 01-3N-
23-0000-0003-0000 FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR)
TO LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (LDR) SAID
PARCEL LOCATED AS SHOWN ON ATTACHMENT
A; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR
PROVISIONS THEREOF IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida to which Chapter
125 of the Florida Statutes grants broad authority and provides for the adoption of ordinances to
provide for self-governance: and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 of the Florida Statutes requires that all local governments adopt and
maintain comprehensive plans to manage growth within their jurisdictions, consisting of several
elements as well as a map depicting the future uses of land throughout the jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 provides processes through which a local government’s comprehensive
plan and future land use map may be amended from time to time; and

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County adopted, and has from time to time amended, Ordinance 90-01 that
establishes the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan including its various elements and Future

Land Use Map: and

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA:
Section 1. This ordinance shall be referred to as the 534016-BCC-2023 Future Land Use changing
the Future Land Use Map designation of a portion of certain parcel of real property owned by

Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview, LLC., Property Id Number 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000,
more particularly depicted as shown on Attachment A attached hereto.

Section 2. The Okaloosa County Future Land Use Map is hereby amended to change the
designation of the parcel of real property as shown in Attachment A attached hereto from Rural

Residential (RR) to Low Density Residential (LDR).



Section 3. This ordinance does hereby repeal any ordinances, ot portions thereof, in conflict
herewith,
Section 4. Should any word, phrase, sentence, section, subsection, or other provision of this

Ordinance be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, or
unconstitutional, then the part so held shall be severed from this Ordinance and the remainder of

this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect,

Seetion. 5. ‘The effective date of the Future Land Use Map amendment authorized by this
Ordinance shall be as provided in section 163.3187, Florida Statutes.

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED inthis _ dayof , 2024,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMSSIONERS
OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Robert A, “Trey” Goodwin 111,
Chairman

ATTEST:

1.D. Peacock IT
Clerk of Circuit Court

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Lynn M. Hoshihara
County Attorney



Attachment |

A PORTION THEREOF ““2°"

01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000
—

] 1
(A Y

1]

|
L
A
|
L

1




ATTACHMENT K

ORDINANCE 24-

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OKALOOSA
COUNTY LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE,
ORDINANCE 91-01, AS AMENDED, CHANGING THE
ZONING FOR A PORTION OF PARCEL 01-3N-23-
0000-0003-0000 FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR)
TO RESIDENTIAL-1 (R-1); SAID PARCEL LOCATED
AS SHOWN ON ATTACHMENT A; REPEALING ALL
ORDINANCES OR PROVISIONS THEREOF IN
CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE

DATE.
RECITALS

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida to which Chapter
125 of the Florida Statutes grants broad authority and provides for the adoption of ordinances to

provide for self-governance: and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 of the Florida Statutes requires that all local governments adopt and
maintain comprehensive plans to manage growth within their jurisdictions, consisting of several
elements as well as a map depicting the future uses of land throughout the jurisdiction and requiring
the adoption of land development regulations to regulate growth and development; and

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County adopted, and has from time to time amended, Ordinance 91-01 that
establishes the Okaloosa County Land Development Code as required by Chapter 163 of the
Florida Statutes to implement the Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 2 of the Okaloosa County Land Development Code establishes the various
zoning districts and includes maps depicting locations of the various zoning districts throughout

the County; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 125 of the Florida Statutes establishes the authority and procedure by
which a County may amend the zoning applied to properties; and

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners Finds that it is necessary and in the public
interest to amend the Okaloosa County Land Development Code to change the zoning of parcel
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000 as provided herein.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA:

Section 1. This ordinance shall be referred to as the 534019-BCC-2023 Rezoning changing the
Zoning designation of a portion of certain parcel of real property owned by Willow Creek



Plantation At Crestview, LLC., Property Id Number 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000, mote particularly
depicted as shown on Attachment A attached hereto.

Section 2. The Okaloosa County Zoning Map is hereby amended to change the designation of the
patcel of real property as shown in Attachment A attached hereto from Rural Residential (RR) to

Residential-1 (R-1). |

Section 3. This ordinance does hereby repeal any otdinances, or portions thereof, in conflict
herewith.

Section 4. Should any word, phrase, sentence, seotion, subsection, or other provision of this

Ordinance be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, ot
unconstitutional, then the part so held shall be severed from this Ordinance and the temainder of

this Ordinance shall rernain in full force and effect.

Sectiom 5. The effective date of the Puture Land Use Map amendment authorized by this
Ordinance shall be as provided in section 163.3187, Florida Statutes.

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED inthis __day of , 2024,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMSSIONERS
OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Robert A. “Trey” Goodwin ITE,
Chairman -

ATTEST:

J.D. Peacock I
Clerk of Civenit Court

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Lyun M. Hoshihara
County Attorney



ATtachment

A PORTION THEREOF “"*°"
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000

E%ﬂ?/l ﬁ; ; - -

SUBJECT PROPERTY [

| . ‘
|
CASEY RIDGE L:. , %:




ATTACHMENT |
ORDINANCE.24 -

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OKALOOSA COUNTY LAND
DEVELOPMENT CODE, ORDINANCE NO. 91-01, AS AMENDED,
CREATING SECTION 3.11.00, 125-ACRE WILLOW CREEK
PLANTATION AT CRESTVIEW OVERLAY DISTRICT; PROVIDING
FOR A SHORT TITLE; PROVIDING FOR APPLICABILITY;
PROVIDING FOR 125-ACRE WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION AT
CRESTVIEW OVERLAY DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDING
FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL ORDINANCES, OR PORTIONS THEREOF,
IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDPING FOR SEVERABILITY;
PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE

DATE.
RECITALS

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida to which
Chapter 125 of the Florida Statutes grants broad authority and provides for the adoption of
ordinances to provide for self-governance;

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County adopted and has from time to time amended Ordinance 91-
01 which establishes the Okaloosa County Land Development Code that includes, among other
things, Chapter 3 which establishes certain overlay zones used to impose special development or
use restrictions on identified areas for the development of property in furtherance of the Okaloosa

County Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, Eglin Air Force Base and the military missions conducted on the Eglin
Reservation are critical not only to the national defense, but also to the prosperity of Okaloosa
County, providing thousands of jobs that form a substantial part of the County’s economic

productivity; and

WHEREAS, as identified in the Eglin Joint Land Use Study and the Eglin Growth
Management Plan, properly managing the encroachment of development and light into the airspace
over and around the Eglin Reservation is critical to maintaining the viability of current missions,
and to successfully attracting additional missions in the future; and

WHERFEAS, special development restrictions are not only essential to the health and safety
of the public, it also integral to the County’s economy, enabling commerce, industry, and myriad
other pursuits that contribute to the productivity of the citizens; and

WHEREAS, it is therefore necessary and in the public interest to enact an overlay zone to
impose special development restrictions on the area identified within the County’s Land



Development Code fo ensure that the Eglin Air Force Base and the missions conducted on the
Eglin Resetvation are protected from increagsed residential development and vnnecessary light
intrusion while allowing appropriate development as needed for public health and safety as well

ag econonuic prosperity

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA:

Section 1, Chapter 3, Overlay Zones, of the Okaloosa County Eand Development Code, Ordinance
91-01, as amended, is hereby amended and revised to include Section 3.11.00, 125-Acre Willow
Creek Plantation at Crestview Ovetlay District, as shown in Attachment A,

Section 2. It is intention of the Board of County Commissioners that the provisions of Attachment
A. ghall be included in the Code of Ordinances of Okaloosa County, Florida, and that any
renurnbering of the various sections is hereby authorized as necessary to achieve this directive.

Section 3, This Ordinance shall become effective as provided by law, and does hereby repeal any
ordipances, ot provisions thereof, in conflict herowith. Should any word, phrase, sentence,
subsection, section or other patt of this Ordinance be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be illegal, void, unenforceable, or unconstitutional then the part so held shall be severed from thig
Ocdinance and the remainder of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.

PASSED AND DULY ADOPYED inthis _ dayof , 2024,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMSSIONERS
OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Raobert A, “Trey” Goodwin III,
Chairman.



ATTEST:

J.D, Peacock IT
Clerk of Circuit Couxt

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Lynn M. Hoghihara
County Attorney



ATTACHMENT A

3.11.0 125-ACRE WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION AT CRESTIVIEW OVERLAY
DISTRICT

3.11.01 Purpose: The purpose of this section is to implement and put into regulatory effect specific
development related requirements that will apply to a 125-acre parcel. located divectly south of
Wayne Rogers Road and consisting of a portion of Parcel ID Numbers: 01-3N-23-0000-0003-
0000. The 125-acre parcel is located within the Eglin Air Force Base (AFB) Low Level Flight

Cormidor,

3.11.02 Application: The following restrictions are hereby established for the 125-Acres.

1) The 125 acres shall be limited to 250 residential dwelling units.

2) Residential height shall be limited to a maximum of 35 fest and non-resideitial uses such as
communication structures, and electric utility transmission facilities shall be limited to a maximum

height of 150 feet.

3) At the tine of a subdivision of the 125-acres, the land owner or developer shall provide a
disclosure ta its purchasers, both in the contract of sale and in the recorded covenants. which
describes that the property is located within of the Eelin Air Force Base Low Level Flight Corridor
and the significance of the Corridor and notifies the customers that resulting affects from potential
noise and vibration from the operations of Eglin Air Force Base may affect their enjovment of the
property. This disclosure will also detail any possible radio frequency interference. The disclosure
form and subdivision covenants and restrictions shall be provided to the County prior to issuance
of the final subdivision plat and shall be recorded in the official records of Okaloosa County.
Florida no later than 60 days following final plat approval.

4) The landowner or developer shall coordinate with Okaloosa County and Eglin Air Force Base
the construction of any communications towers and any other communications facilities that may
adversely impact the operations of the Eglin AFB.

5) The property shall be developed and required to utilized and maintain Dark Sky Lighting
requirements for all outdoor lighting fixtures. The Dark Sky Lighting requirements will be a
condition of each development order. The proposed Dark Sky Lighting plan shall be submitted al
the development order stage and shall be coordinated and reviewed by Eelin Air Force Base prior

to approval.

6) All subdivision plats within the overlay district shall be subject to and contain the following
language:

No use of land, water. ot airspace within the Overlay shall:

a) Create electrical interference between Eglin AFB/Reservation and aireraft, missiles or any
other associated military or civilian activities.




b) Create glare, artificial light, smoke or dust, or reflect light in such a way that may impair pilot
visibility at any time.

¢) Create forage or nesting environments that increase the potential for bird/wildlife aireraft
strilce iazards within Eglin AFB eritical approaches.

d) Endanger or interfere with the landing, departure or maneuvering of aireraft using Belin
AFB/Reservation.

7) Any proposal or request to amend the density, height, lighting restrictions or standards lsted in
this overlay shall be provided and coordinated through Okaloosa County Growth Management
for Eglin AFB compatibility review.




ATTACHMENT M

ATTACHMENT M - LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF PARCEL ID NO. 01-3N-23-0000-0003- 0000, LOCATED IN
SECTION I, TOWNSHIP 3 NORTH, RANGE 23 WEST, OKALOOSA COUNTY,
FL, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGIN AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF
SECTION 1, NORTH, RANGE 23 WEST, OKALOOSA COUNTY, FL, THENCE
PROCEED N88°04'08"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 FOR
A DISTANCE OF 1639.00 FEET; THENCE RUN N07°59'37"W FOR A
DISTANCE OF 3587.95 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF WILLOW CREEK
PLANTATION, PHASE 1 (PB 25-PG-35); THENCE RUN S54°47'36"E ALONG
SAID SOUTH LINE FOR A DISTANCE OF 55.67 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE
ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE N67°39'3-9"E FOR A DISTANCE 125.81 FEET;
THENCE CONTINUE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE N82°56'14"E FOR A
DISTANCE QOF 1287.67 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE
OF WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION, PHASE 2B (PB 26-PG-14); THENCE RUN
§57°42'32"E ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE FOR A DISTANCE OF 1287.67 FEET:
THENCE CONTINUE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE S31° 1745"E FOR A
DISTANCE OF 1508.64 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4
OF SECTION 1; THENCE RUN S00°33'20-W ALONG SAID EAST LINE FOR A
DISTANCE OF 1661.84 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. PARCEIL,

CONTAINS £124.80 ACRES.



Randall Woodruff
| -t = e s ey

ATTACHMENT N

Raymond Greer <rgreer@designwestgroupeng.com>

From:

Sent: Friday, July 28, 2023 9:04 AM

To: KIGER, JOHN P CIV USAF AFMC 96 CEG/CENPL

Cc: Randall Woodruff

Subject: Re: [URL Verdict: Neutral][Non-DoD Source] Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Large
Scale Land Use Map Amendment

Jack,

Thank you for the review of the amendment package and overlay.
I hope you have a great weekend!
Thanks.

Ray

On Thu, Jul 27, 2023 at 5:35 PM KIGER, JOHN P CIV USAF AFMC 96 CEG/CENPL <iohn.kiger@us.af.mil> wrote:

Ray,

This looks good from a military compatibility standpoint. Thank you for the coordination.

v/,

Jack

JackKiger

Community Planner

96th Civil Engineer Group
501 Deleon Street, Suite 100
Eglin AFB FL 32542

Office 850.882.8078 (DSN 872)



From: Raymond Greer <rgreer@designwestgrotipeng.com>
Sent: Friday, July 7, 2023 4:26 PM
To: KIGER, JOHN P CIV USAF AFMC 96 CEG/CENPL <john.kiger@us.af.mil>

Cc: rwoodruff@myokaloosa.com
Subject: [URL Verdict: Neutral][Non-DoD Source] Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview Large Scale Land Use Map

Amendment

Jack,

Good to talk to this afternoon.

As we discussed, attached is the proposed FLUM, Overlay District and rezoning application.

Please review and let me know if you have any questions or would like any additional information.

Thanks.

Ray

Raymond W. Greer, AICP
2910 Kerry Forest Parkway
D4-126

Tallahassee, Florida 32309

(850) 545-6503

Raymond W. Greer, AICP



2910 Kerry Forest Parkway

D4-126
Tallahassee, Florida 32309

(850) 545-6503
o —

| CAUTION: This email originated from outside th
; sender and know the content is safs.

& organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless You recognize the



EXHIBIT 1

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDNENTS

Authority: Section 163.3187 & 1633189, Florida Statutes; Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan,
Administration Element, Policles 1,13 — 1,15,

Purpose: The purpose ofthe comprehensive plan amendment process is to provide a process and
procedure for cliizens o change the text and maps found in the adopted comprehensive plan.

Types of plan amendments: Citizen-initiated plan amendments are classified as follows.

1, Type-1: Changes to the Fuiure Land Use Map (FLUM] Inttiated by property owners otherthan the
County [nvelving more than ten (10) acres of land, or any change to the written text of the Plan.

2. Type-2: Changes to the FLUM initiated by a property owner other than the County involving less than 10
acres of land, which may be referred to as a small-scale amendment.
Process:

The process for Type-1 plan amendments is as follows.

1. Type-1 amendments may be submitted at any time.

2, Only the property owner of the property for which the amendment is being requested or the cwnet’s
duly authorzed agent may apply for the plan amendment.

3, Applications for plan amendments shall be made only on applications provided by the Department of
Growth Management.
4, Detailed specific application procedures shall be described in the plan amendment application package.

5. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to provide all required information including data and
analysis to support the plan amendment application,

6. Once an application Is deemed complete it will be scheduled as an agenda ftem for consideration by the
Planning Commission and the Board of County Com missioners at public hearings. These hearings shall be
fegislative In nature and need not be conducted as quasi-judicial proceedings.

7. Atotal of three (3} duly advertised public hearings are required for Type-1 plan amendments as follow.

a. One public hearing before the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shafl make
recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners regarding each plan amendment application.

b. One transmittal hearing before the Board of County Commissfoners, The purpose of this hearing is for
the Board to decide whether ot not to transmit each application for plan amendment for state agency
review.

¢. One adoption haaring before the Board of County Commissioners. The purpose of this hearing is for the
Board to declde whether or not to adopt each application for plan amendment by ordinance afier

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR






consideration of objections, recommendations or comments recelved as a result of state agency review,

8. Notice of public hearings shall be provided in the following manner.

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



a. The applicant shall mail certified, return-receipt notification to all property owners of record within 300
feet of the property, to be measured from the property line of the property which Is the subject of the
plan amendment. The notice must dascribe the requested plan amendment, state the date, time and
focation of the public hearlng at which the plan amendment will be consldered and provide names and
telephone numbers to contact for further information. Notification must be mailed no later than 21 days
before the date of the public hearing. The return-receipt "grean cards” must be returned to the
Department priot to the first pubiic hearlng.

b, The applicant shall post a sign on the plan amendment property no less than 2 feet by 3 feet in size with
no less than 1 inch lettering to be placed at the property line facing and clearly visible from the adjacent
street, or for multiple streets a sign clearly visible from all adjacent streets. The sign shall describa the
requested plan amendment, state the date, time and location of the public bearing at which the plan
amendment will be considered, and provide names and telephone numbers to contact for further
inforrnation, The sign must be posted no later than 15 days prior to the date the public hearing wifl be
held, PRE-MADE SIGNS ARE AVAHLABLE FOR PURCHASE FROM THE DEEARTIMENT.

¢. The Department shall run an advertisement In a newspaper of general circulation in the manner
prescribad by general law,

d. The applicant must provide signed and notarized affidavits stating that the notifications were mailad
and the sign(s) were posted on the amendment property as specifiad herein.

g. The specific intent of providing constructive public notice is ta inform potentiafly affected parties of an
actlon to be cansidered and the forum for an opportunity to be heard. In those situations where a
newspaper advertisement, mailed notification, sign or other required public notice contains an
unintentional mistake which does not affect due notice of a pending proceeding to the extent that a
potentially affected party is not made aware of an action being considered or the date, time, and place at
which the action will be considered then sald mistake may be considered “harmless error” which shall not
necessitate the re-advertisement or the rescheduling of the proceeding at hand. Where a dispute may
arlse as to whether a particular unintentional mistake constitutes harmless error the presiding body for

the proceeding at hand shall decide by majotity vote.

9. The Board of County Commissioners shall declde whether or not to transmit any plan amendmant(s) for
state agency review at the transmittal public hearing specified at 7, b above. In the event one or more plan
amendments are not approved for state agency review the applicant or any other applicant may not
thereafter apply for the same plan amendment for the same amendment property, uness it can be
demanstrated by competent, substantial evidence that either the premise of the application is
substantially different and/or there have been significant changed conditions and circumstances that
might result in a different decision by the Board.

10. For those plan amendments transmltted for state agency review each agency will provide its objections
and comments fo the County and the State Land Planning Agency. Upon receipt of comments from state
agencies the County, ina timely manner, shall either; 1} notify the plan amendment applicant{s) in writing
that there Is no objection to the plan amendment, or; 2) provide the plan amendment applicant with a copy
of state agency objections. When objections have been raised it shall be the responsibility of the appticant
to resolve those ahjections In coordination with the County. The applicant shall provide to

the County additional data and analysis or other information as may be necessary to respond to the

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



objections. The County and the applicant will then coordinate with the State Land Planning Agency in an

attempt to resolve the objections.

11. The Board of County Commissianers shall decide whether to adopt, adopt with changes, or not adopt
plan amendments at the adoption public hearing specified at 7, c ahove. At the adoption hearing the fact
that there are unresolved objections shall not preclude the Board from adopting any particular plan
amendment. Conversely, the fact that no objections were raised shall not preclude the Board from not

adopting any particular plan amendment.
The process for Type-2 plan amendments is as follows.

The process for Type-2 plan amendments shall be the same as for Type-1 plan amendments EXCEPT for

the following._

1. Type 2 plan amendments are limited to properties 10 acres or less in size.

2. The County may not adopt more than 120 acres cumulative as Type-2 plan amendments in any given
calendar year. The 120 acres shall become available for plan amendments as of January 1 of each calendar
year and shall remain available until the 120 acres is gone or the end of the calendar year, whichever

occurs first,

3. The 120 acres shall be allocated on a first-come, first-served basis to be determined by the date and
time the plan amendment application is filed with the County and all applicable fees paid.

4. The proposed amendment shall not involve a change to the written text of this Plan, but only proposesa
land use change to the future land use map for a site-specific small-scale development activity, unless the

text change is directly related to the map change.

6. Two public hearings shall be required for Type-2 amendments: one public hearing befare the Planning
Commission and one adoption hearing before the Board of County Commissioners.

7. Transmittal to for state agency review is not required far Type-2 plan amendments.

Fees:

Type-1 amendments : Application fee - $2,500.00 base fee + $10.00 per acre or fraction thereof.

Type -2 amendments: Application fee - $1,200.00 base fee + $20.00 per acre or fraction thereof.

Newspaper legal notice fee to be paid by applicant —cost charged by the newspaper.
Sign fee: $10.00 per sign.

To apply:

Click here for Type-1 comprehensive plan future land use map amendment application.

Click here for Type-1 comprehensive plan text change application.

Click here for Type-2 comprehensive plan future land use map amendment application.

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



OKALOOSA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
GROWTH MANAGEMENT APPLICATION
FOR FUTURE LAND USE MAP TYPE ~ 1

AMENDMENT
(MORE THAN 10
ACRES)

A. Applicant Informatio

1. Name: Raymond W. Greer

2. Address: 2010 Kerry Forast Parkway, Suite D4-126, Tallahassee, Florida 32309

3. Telephone:850-545-6503 FAX:

4. Applicant is: Property owner Owners authorized agent* X
* Verlflcation of authorfzed agent must bs attached

5. Owner’s name, address and telephone, if different than applicant:

Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview, |.LC

4037 Phelan Road, Suite A271, Phelan, California, 92371
B. Property Information

6. Location: The amendment area is located north of U.S. 90 just to the east of Boh
Svykes Airport and to the south of Wayne Rodgers Road,

7. Property |ID Number 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000.

8. Current use of property: Vacant

9. Proposed use of property: Single family subdivision {(Willow Creek Plantation Phase 2)
10. Size of properly: 125 Acres (sq. ft. or acres)

11. Namas/Number of adjacent roads; North _Wayne Rodgers Road
East None South None West Fairchild Road

C. Future Langd Use/Zoning Information

12. Existing Future Land Use Map designation: Rural Residential

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



13. Existing zoning district: _Rural Residential (RR)

D. Requested Action

14. Reason for the requested amendment: _Single family subdivision. (Willow Creek
Plantation Phase 2)

15. Requested amendment:
FROM_Rural Residential (FL.LUM designation) TO _Low Density Residential

—  {FLUM designation)

E. Certification

I do hereby certify and affirm that the information represented in this application
is true and correct to the best of my knowledge. | also give my permission for
county staff to enter upon the property involved at any reasonable time for
purpases of site inspections and the posting of any required notices.

Raymond W. Greer
Applicant printed or typed name

=

L 9

June 1, 2023
Applicant sighature Date
Corporate officer Corporate Seal
FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY
Date received: File No..
Received by:

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



Required Information and Materials

The following information must be submitted with the completed, signed and
dated application form.

1. x__Alstterof petition stating the reason for the requested amendment.

2. x_ Ifthe action is prerequisite fo a development project a conceptual
site plan drawing of the project must be provided.

3. X__A survey or drawing showing the location and dimensions of the

property involved.

X__A copy of the deed and legal desgription of the property involved.

X__A certified list of all property owners within a 300 foof radius of the

property to be rezonad, This list must be obtained from and
certified by the Property Appraiser’s Office, and dated no more
than 30 days prior to submittal of the application.

8. X__ Notarized affidavit affirming the list of property owners within 300 feet

7. X_. Notarized affidavit affirming that the required signs will be posted on

property subject to the amendment.

8. x__ Fee. The fea for more than 10 acre amendment is $2,500.00
(non-rafundable} plus $10.00 for each acre, or fraction thereof.

9, _x Hthe applicant is not the actual properly owner a verification
ofauthortzed agent must be provided.

10._x__The applicant must submit all data and analysis to support
the amendment which will accompany the requested
amendmentfor state agency review.

11. x____ If the proposed amendment involves a change from an Agriculfure
orRural Residential land use designation to some other designation
theapplication must include a demonstration of the following.

a. The need for such land use amendment;

b. The amendment will not result in urban sprawl;

¢. Afunctional relationship of the proposed amendment to other more
densely of intensely designated or developed lands;

d. The availability of facilities and services for a more dense or intense
land use, and;

. The relationship of the proposed amendment to the urban
development boundary.

12. x__The Board of County Commissioners shall exercise its legislative
authority when deciding whether or not to approve or not approve plan
amendments. Howsver, the following guidslines and criteria shall be
considered when making such decision and may form the basis for approving
or not approving any patticular plan amendment. These shall only apply to

Type-1 plan amendments.

o1

a. All procedural requirements must be met.

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



b. The requested plan amendment must be consistent with the objectives and
policies of this Plan, particularly the designation and location criteria specified in
the Future Land Use Element,

¢. The potential to create a threat to the general health, safety, and welfare of the
public, or otherwise adversely affect the public interest. :
d. The extent to which any development enabled by the amendment will promote
an orderly and logical pattern of development relative to the area involved, and
can co~exist in relative proximity to other adjacent or nearby land uses in a stable
fashion over time such that no other use or condition is unduly negatively
impacted directly or indirectly by another use or condition, or will otherwise
interfere with the quict use and enjoyment of properties enjoyed by other

property owners in the vicinity of the amendment area.

e. The amendment is intended to correct an oversight or mistake in the Plan or
on the FLUM, or conditions and ¢ircumstances in the vicinity of the amendment
area have changed 1o justify or give rise to a need for the amendment.

f. The amendment will not promote or result in urban sprawl as that term is
defined in s5163.3177(6),(a).9, Fla. Stat. A finding by the State Land Planning
Agency that an amendment will result in urban sprawl shall constitute a

rebuttable presumption that the amsndment will promote or resuit ir urban

sprawl.

g. Facilities and services including roads, water, sewer, recreation, drainage, and
public safety are adequate to support the level of development enabled by the
amendment, or that mitigation in the form of improvements or compensation can
be provided to offset negative impact.

h. The amendment will not result in damage to or destruction of valuable natural
resources as described in the Conservation Element of this Pian.

i. The amendment will not confiict, interfere with, or contradict infrastrusture plans
of the county, or other government agency, or public utility; or otherwise create a
physical liability for the county, government agency, or public ufitity.

j. The amendment will generally result in a net public benefit as opposed to a

public liability.

Procedure for Plan Amendme_nt

The procedure for the amendment process is as follows.

Fully complate, sign, and date the amendment application form.

Obtain the certified list of propetty owners from the Property Appraiser’s
Office dated at least 30 days prior to application submittal.

Complete and have notarized the affidavit affirming that the certified list of
property owners was obtained (blank capy enclosed).

Complete and have notarized the affidavit affirming that the required
public notice signs will be posted on the property to be changed (blank
copy enclosed or signs are available for purchase from the Department),
5. Submit the completed application, required information, and notarized
affidavits to the Department of Growth Management.

Sl

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-\VIR



6. Oncs the application is submitted and determined to be fully complete
the requested action will be placed on the agenda of the Planning
Commission in accordance with the enclosed schedule. Two public
hearings will be required, one before the Planning Commiission and one
before the Board of County Commissioners.

7. The times, dates and locations of the required public hearings will be
provided to the applicant by the Department.

8, Certified, return-receipt letters must be sent to all property owners on
the cettified list within 300 feet of the property to be changed (sample
letter enclosed). These letters must be mailed no later than 21 days
hefore the Planning Commission public hearing and must include: 1) the
petition letter stating the reason for the change; 2) a location map showing
the location of the property to be changed in relation to surrounding

propeities and adjacent roads.
NOTE: Naotification of both the Planning Gonpitission and Gounty Commission hearings may be

providadin the same lefar,
9. Afterthe letters are mailed the applicant must provide {o the Department:

a postal receipt from the US Postal Sarvice verifying the date the letters
were mailed; an exact copy of the information mailed out, and; the green
return-receipt cards.

10.A 2 ft by 3 1t sign with ho less than 1 Inch lettering (sample enclosed) must
be posted at a conspicuous location on the property being changed. This
sign must be posted no less than 15 days prior to the scheduled

Planning Commission public hearing. signs are avaliable for purchase from the
Department
11.The applicant must attend the Planining Commission and County

Commission public heatings so as to answer any questions or issues that
may arise.

12.The County Commission will decids at the hearing whether or not to
fransmit the requested amendment for state agency review.

13. If the requested amendment is approved for transmittal the County will
distribute it to state agencies for review and comment. Any comments or
objections from state agencies will be sent to the County.

14. The applicant, in conjunction with the County, must respond to and
resolve any objections raised by state agencles. The County must take
action (adopt or not adopt) within 180 days after the date the objections
are received.

15.When and i the objections are resolved the Gounty can adopt the
raquested amendment by ordinance at a second public hearing.

18. Within 30 days after the local government adopts amendment, an affected
person may file petition with the Department of Administrative Hearings

17. Within 30 days of receipt of complete adopted plan amendment, the State
Land Planning Agency reviews adopted plan amendmant.

18. Amendment becomes effective 31 days after the State Land Planning

Agency determines the amendment package is complete and no petition Is

filed by an affected party.

REVISED FEB 28, 2014-MR



EXHIBIT 2

WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION AT CRESTVIEW
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS

Prepared For:

Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview, LLC
4037 Phelan Road, Suite A271
Phelan, California 92371

May 2023




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

CONTACT INFORMATION

Raymond W. Greer, AICP
Project Manager
DesignWest Group

2910 Kerry Forest Parkway
Suite D-4 126

Tallahassee, Florida 32309
Phane: 850.545.6503




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

Table of Contents

l. General Information

il Type of Request
A. Map Amendment

. Description of Property / Adjacent Uses

Iv. Natural Resources / Features of Subject Property
Site Description

Soils

Floodplains

Wetlands

Listed Wildlife Species

Historic and Cultural Resources

mmonRE

V. Public Facilities and Services
Potable Water
Sanitary Sewer

Solid Waste
Stormwater
Transportation

Mmoo e

VI. Urban Sprawl Analysis and Justification

Vil.  Consistency Analysis and Justification

VIl.  Figures
Location Map Soil Classifications
Adopted Future Land Use Map Floodplains
Proposed Future Land Use Map Wetlands
Adopted Zoning Map Proposed Zoning Map




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

Tables

Table 1 Existing and Proposed Future Land Use Classifications
Table 2 Subject Site and Adjacent Property Land Uses

Table 3 Soil Types

Table 5 Existing and Proposed Development Realistic Scenario
Table 6 Potable Water Capacity Analysis

Table 7 Sanitary Sewer Capacity Analysis

Table 8 Solid Waste Generation Analysis

Appendices

Appendix A — Transportation Analysis
Appendix B — Okaloosa County Application
Appendix C — Agent Letter

Appendix D - Property Deed

Appendix E - Survey

il GROUP i |




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

I. General Information

Parcel Identification Number:
01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000
Acreage:

125 acres +/-

Existing Future Land Use:
Rural Residential

Proposed Future Land Use:

Low Density Residential

The application package contains a proposed amendment to Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan
Future Land Use Map. The amendment proposes to change a portion of the parcel, for a total of 125
acres, from the Rural Residential land use categories to the Low Density Residential land use category on
the Okaloosa County Future Land Use Map. The Airport Compatibility .5 Acre land use designated
portion of the site (approximately 56.42 acres) will remain unchanged. The amendment area is located
north of U.S. 90 just to the east of Bob Sykes Airport and directly south Willow Creek Plantation
Subdivision Phase 1. The 125 acres will be part of Willow Creek Plantation Phase 2.

Access to the site will be from Wayne Rodgers Road. The Applicant is currently coordinating with
Okaloosa County to utilize a secondary access from Fairchild Road. The Applicant is requesting an
overlay district for the 125-Acre tract of land that will limit the overall density of the property to 250 (2
dwelling units per acre) residential dwelling units, establish a height limitation, require dark sky lighting
principles and provide for coordination with Elgin Air Force Base.

GROUP!




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

I[I. Type of Request

A, Map Amendment

The request is for an amendment to Okaloosa County’s Future Land Use Map for a site consisting of 125
acres. The site currently has Rural Residential land use designations. This request is to redesignate the
site’s Rural Residential portion as Low Density Residential. The Airport Compatibility .5 Acre land use
designated portion of the site will remain unchanged. The Existing Future Land Use Map and the
Proposed Future Land Use Map are included in Section VIIl. Table 1 identifies the total acreage, and the
existing and proposed land uses for the amendment area.

Table 1: Existing and Proposed Future Land Use Classifications

Future Land Use Categories withinthe | : Acres ; 3
Proposed Amendment Area , . Existing Proposed .~ Change
Rural Residential 125 0 -125
Low Density Residential 0 125 +125
Total 125 125 4]

i GrOUP|




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

[II. Description of Property / Adjacent Uses

The subject site is approximately 125 acres consisting of a Rural Residential land use on the Okaloosa
County Future Land Use Map. The zoning designation of the site is also Rural Residential. Refer to
Appendix VIl for the Adopted Future Land Use and Adopted Zoning maps.

The subject property is vacant and adjacent to vacant tracts on south, west and east. The property to
the north contains a platted single family subdivision. The property to the north has a future land use
designation of Rural Residential. The land to the east and south has a land use of Agriculture, and the
land to the west consists of land with Airport Compatibility .5 Acre and Airport Industrial Park land use
designations. These land uses are shown on the Adopted Future Land Use Map in Section VIl and Table

2, below.

Table 2: Subject Site and Adjacent Property Land Uses

; o , _ Future Land Use Designations -\ Zoning Districts
Subject Property Rural Residential RR
North Rural Residential RR
South Agriculture AA
East Agriculture AA
—— Airport Cumpatib_i]ity .5 Acre, AC.S, 12
Industrial

Source: Okaloosa County GIS Department (May 2023)




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

IV.  Natural Resources / Features of Subject Property

A. Site Description

The proposed amendment site is located north of U.S. 90 in unincorporated Okaloosa County. Access to
the site will be from Wayne Rogers Road. The Location Map is included in Section VIIl. The project site
terrain ranges from 156 feet to 81 feet with higher elevations near the north and west partions of the
property. The southeast portion of the property is lowest portion of the property with Bends Creek

running along the corner of the property.

B. Soils

The subject property has eight soil types on the property as identified on the Soils Classification Map in
Section VIl and Table 4. A description of the soil type is listed below.

Table 3: Soil Types

Séllsrnfgalfmt s el Soil Unit Cc')‘mp.osi'fce Nanj’e e . Ac’res
6 DOROVAN MUCK, FREQUENTLY FLOODED 7.0
12 LAKELAND SAND, O TO 5 PERCENT SLOPES 9.2
13 LAKELAND SAND, 5 TO 12 PERCENT SLOPES 7.5
37 BONIFAY SAND, 5 TO 8 PERCENT SLOPES 48.9
43 KINSTON JOHNSTON AND BIBB SOILS 52.1

Source: Okaloosa County GIS Department {(May 2023)

Doorman Muck — Donovan Muck is nearly level, very poorly drained soils that are organic throughout.
These soils are often found in large hardwood swamps and on flood plains along drainageways in the

southern part of the County.

Lakeland Sands — 0-5% slopes — This nearly level or gently sloping, excessively drained soil is on broad
ridgetops in the uplands. Permeability is rapid; runoff is slow,

Lakeland Sands — 5 to 12% slopes — This excessively drained soils usually leads to drainage ways and
around depressions. Permeability is rapid; runoff is slow.

Bonifay Sands — 5 to 8% slopes — This sloping or strongly sloping, well drained soil is on side slopes in
the uplands. Individual areas range from about 10 to 60 acres in size.

Kinston Johnston and Bibb Soils — These soils are frequently flooded and poorly drained.

NWEST [Eleld




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

G Floodplains

The majority of the 125-acre amendment area is outside of the 0.2% chance annual flood or is located in
an “A” zone where no base flood elevation has been determinad. A portion of the praperty along the
eastern side is located within a floodway and includes Zone AE. This area is approximately 30.4 acres.
For additional information regarding fload zone lacations occurring on the subject site, please reference

the FEMA Flood Zones Map in Section [X.

D. Wetlands

As demonstrated on the Wetlands Map in Section VIIi, there are a few wetlands on the proposed
amendment site. There is a portion of the site located along the eastern edge that is designated
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland, comprising approximately 16.2 acres. The wetland appears to tie
into the Bends Creek waterbody.

E. Listed Wildlife Species

The area may support a variety of wildlife species. These may include Florida pine snakes, gopher
tortoises, gopher frags, Sherman’s fox squirrel, and potential habitat for the Florida Black Bear. Policies
4.1 and 7.1 of Section 2.10 the Conservation Element in the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan
addresses state threatened or endangered wildlife habitat. The applicant will perform all habitat

analysis at the development stage.

F. Historic and Cultural Resources

The applicant has requested preliminary cultural and archaeological resource information from the
Florida Master Site File (FMSF), Division of Historical Resources.

V. Public Facilities and Services

The public facilities analysis is based on a maximum development scenario, which evaluates the worst-
case scenario. Proposed land uses were evaluated as if the maximum amount of development allowed

would ultimately be built-out.

Table 4: Existing and Proposed Development Scenario

~ Sizeof Development
; Land Use Maximum R ‘Maximum
Scenario i : et
! Designation Allowed Density Acres Allowed
_ s Development
Existing Rural Residential 1du/2acres 125 250
Low Densit
Proposed . i Y 1du/ 2 acres* 125 250
Residential

*Qverlay density limit of two (2) dwellings per acre.

SiE GROUP| j




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

Based on the development proposal shown in the above table, which assumes all of the propased
development occurs at the maximum density allowed, the proposed land use change would not result in
a net increase of additional dwelling units.

The following analysis is based upon the availability of, and actual and anticipated demand on, facilities
and services serving or proposed to serve the subject property. A development scenario of 250 dwelling
units per acre is used for this analysis. The analysis evaluates the effect of the demands on the level of
service standards adopted within the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan and identifies any
anticipated facility improvements. Facilities and services include potable water, sanitary sewer, solid

waste, and transportation.

A, Potable Water

The central water service provider for the amendment site is Auburn Water Services, The
permitted capacity for Auburn Water Service is 6,537,000 gallons per day {(gpd). Flow rates
obtained from Auburn Water Service indicate that the facility is currently running at
approximately 2,100,000 gpd. A conservative two-percent growth rate was used to project
future water demand created throughout through the year 2033.

Okaloosa County has adopted a Level of Service (LOS) standard for potable water of 100 gallons
per capital per day for residential uses. The average household size for Okaloosa County based
on the 2023 US Census Bureau data is 2.49 persons per household.

As Table 5 shows, the facility will have adequate capacity to absorb the increase in potable
water demand.

Table 5: Potable Water Capacity Analysis

Permitted Eil Project Total VA
R Average o Percent
Year Capacity Deindn d'(g'p ) Demand Demand Utilized
: (gpd) A AL (gpd) (epd) ;
2023 6,537,000 2,100,000 62,300 2,162,300 33%
2028 6,537,000 2,318,570 62,300 2,380,870 36%
2033 6,537,000 2,559,888 62,300 2,622,188 40%

Source: Auburn Water Services, INC.

B. Sanitary Sewer

Development proposed at the amendment site would send their wastewater to the Jerry D.
Mitchem Reclamation Facility. The Jerry D. Mitchem Reclamation Facility has the permitted
capacity for 1,000,000 gpd. Flow rates obtained from Okaloosa County indicate that the facility
is currently running at approximately 130,000 gpd.

| GROUP |




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

A conservative two-percent growth rate was used to project future demand created throughout
through the year 2033. Okaloosa County has adopted a Level of Service (LOS) standard for
sanitary sewer of 100 gallons per capita per day for residential uses. The average household size
for Okaloosa County hased on 2023 US Census Bureau data is 2.49 persons per household.

As Table 6 shows, the facility will have adequate capacity to absorb the increase in wastewater

demand.
Table 6: Sanitary Sewer Capacity Analysis
Permitted S Project Total :
SR Average S 3 Percent
Year Capacity Befriand (abd) Démand Demand Utilized
i _ (gpd) Bl (gpd) (gpd) A
2023 1,000,000 130,000 62,300 912,300 19%
2028 1,000,000 143,531 62,300 205,831 21%
2033 1,000,000 158,469 62,300 220,769 22%

Source: Okaloosa County

C. Transportation

The proposed map amendment is estimated to generate 2,344 daily trip ends and 235 more PM
peak-hour two-way trip ends. As the capacity analysis documented in this report indicates, the
additional development intensity proposed as part of the comprehensive plan amendment is
not anticipated to create any future roadway deficiencies within the short-term or long-term
planning horizons. Reference Appendix A for the Transportation Analysis.

D. Stormwater
Okaloosa County has adopted Level of Service (LOS) standards within the Comprehensive Plan

that apply to water quantity and water quality for evaluating impacts associated with
developments. The LOS standards for water guantity indicate that post-development runoff
shall be no greater than predevelopment runoff.

Okaloosa County’s LOS standards for water quality are as follows:

The LOS standards for stormwater management shall be:

a. Single-Family Detached Residential Subdivisions: Post development runoff shall not exceed
the pre-development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and
including an event with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration;

b. All Other Development; The first one (1) inch of runoff from the property shall be retained
on the site of the development and post development runoff shall not exceed the pre-




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including an
event with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration; and

¢ A"pop off” shall be provided for stormwater runoff beyond the ahove requirements. The
developers must provide a pop off to an outfall with adequate capacity to handle additional
stormwater runoff and must document that the pop off to the outfall has been authorized
by the owner of the outfall system. If no pop off is available, the stormwater storage facility
shall be designed with a minimum capacity to retain a storm event of one hundred (100)-
year frequency up to and including a twenty-four (24)-hour duration for post development.

E. Solid Waste

Okaloosa County maintains a franchise agreement with Waste Management for
household trash, recyclables, and yard waste at curbside disposal in the unincorporated
areas of the county. The County adopted a residential level of service standard for solid

waste of 6 pounds per person per day (PPPPD).

Table 7: Solid Waste Generation Analysis

Year .N_un_lqber mf Nun.1ber of Level of Service |  Total Demand
Dwelling Units residents ] : :
2033 250 623 6 (PPPPD) 3,738 (PPPPD)

1 GROUP ]




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

VI. Urban Sprawl Analysis and Justification

Chapter 163.3177(6)(a)9.a, Florida Statutes, provides a thirteen-point list of indicators to help in the
evaluation of whether a proposed Future Land Use change would constitute urban sprawl. An analysis
of the thirteen points as applied to the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan amendment is provided

below:

163.3177(6)(a)9.all): Promotes, allows or designates for development of substantial areas of
the jurisdiction to develop as low-intensity, low density, or single-use development or uses in

excess of demonstrated need.

The proposed amendment would allow for a 125-acre site to be developed as low-intensity, low
density, single use development to meet the need for additional housing units. Therefore, the
proposed amendments do not promate, allow or designate for development of substantial areas
of the jurisdiction to develop as low-intensity, low density, or single-use development in excess of

demonstrated need.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(ll):  Promotes, allows or designates significant amounts of urban
development to occur in rural areas at substantial distances from existing urban areas while
leaping over undeveloped lands which are available and suitable for development.

The proposed amendment does not promote, allow or designate significant amounts of urban
development to occur in rural areas at substantial distances from existing urban areas while
leaping over undeveloped lands which are avaifable and suitable for development. The proposed
amendment is located within unincorporated Okaloosa County adjaocent to other similar

residential land uses.

163.3177(6){a)9.a(lll): Promotes, allows or designates urban development in radial, strip,
isolated or ribbon patterns generally emanating from existing urban development.

The proposed amendment does not promote, allow, or designate urban development in radial,
strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns generally emanating from existing urban development.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(1V): As a result of premature or poorly planned conversion of rural land or
other uses, fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands,
floodplains, native vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer
recharge areas, lakes, rivers, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other

significant natural systems.




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

The proposed amendment does not fail to adequately protect and conserve natural resources.
Development will only be permitted on the most suitable parts of the development site, while
avoiding development of environmentally sensitive areas of the site, such as wetlands.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(V): Fails adequately to protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities,
including silviculture, and including active agricultural and silvicultural activities as well as
passive agricultural activities and dormant, unique and prime farmlands and soils.

The proposed amendment does not fail to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and
activities, including silviculture. The property has a land use of Rural Residential and is currently

zoned Rural Residential,

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(VI): Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.

The existing area will provide access to central water and sewer service.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(VIl): Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.

The proposed amendment provides higher density residential development that will connect to
central water and sewer facilities, thus limiting nitrate loading. Increased density and clustering
provides for the cost-efficient delivery of public facilities and services. Therefore, the proposed
amendment will not fail to maximize future public facilities and services.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a({Vill): Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately
increase the cost in time, money, and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and
services, including roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, stormwater management, law
enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, and general government.

The proposed map amendment does not allow for land use patterns or timing which
disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, and energy of providing and maintaining
facilities and services. The area is located adjacent to land that is zoned Industrial and near the

Bob Sikes General Aviation Airport.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(IX): Fails to provide clear separation between rural and urban uses.

As previously mentioned, the proposed amendment area is adjacent to or within the general
area of other industrial and airport compatibility zoning categories.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(X): Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of

existing neighborhoods and communities.

GROUP | H




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

The proposed amendment will not impede redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and
communities, but will provide additional needed housing.

163.3177(6)(a)9.2(Xl): Fails to encourage an attractive and functional mix of uses.

The proposed amendment provides a residential use that will help encourage an attractive and
functional mix of uses. It is located next to existing areas currently zoned for Industrial and
Residential uses. Therefore, the proposed amendment does not fail to encourage an attractive

and functional mix of uses.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(X1l): Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.

The proposed map amendment does not result in poor accessibility among linked or related land
uses. There are other areas zoned Rural Residential to the south and east of the proposed
amendment. With the growing city of Crestview less than three miles to the west, there are
commercial opportunities in the Mixed Use and Commercial zonings in the unincorporated

county.

163.3177(6)(a)9.a(Xl): Results in loss of significant amounts of functional open space.

The proposed amendment will not result in the loss of significant @amounts of functional open
space. Development will only be permitted on the most suitable parts of a development site,
while avoiding development of environmentally sensitive areas of the site. Clustered site
development will result in the preservation of any environmentally sensitive land.

In addition to 163.3177(6)(a)9.a, F.S., Chapter 163.3177(6)(a)9.b of the Florida Statutes provides an
eight-point list of development patterns and urban forms. If the proposed amendment incorporates
four or more of the development patterns or urban forms, it is determined to discourage the
proliferation of urban sprawl. The four patterns and/or forms that best describe the proposed

amendment are listed below,

163.3177(6){a)9.b(l): Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to
geographic areas of the community in @ manner that does not have an adverse impact on and

protects natural resources and ecosystems.

The proposed amendment does not have an adverse impact on natural resources and
ecosystems. Development will only be permitted on the most suitable parts of o development
site, while avoiding development of environmentally sensitive areas of the site, such as wetlands.

163.3177(6)(a)9.b(l): Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of
public infrastructure and services.

GROUP|




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

The proposed map amendment will not affect the extension of public infrastructure and services.

163.3177(6)(a)9.b(V): Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and

dormant, unique, and prime farmlands and soils.

As mentioned above, the property already has a land use and zoning of Rural Residential. It is
not actively being used as agriculture property. Map No. 5A in the Comprehensive Plan Planning
Characteristics 32539 does not designate this property as Prime Farm Lands.

163.3177(6)(a)9.b(VIl): Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the
residential population for the nonresidential needs of an area.

The proposed amendment will not affect the area’s need for non-residential uses and will help

support non-residential uses in the area.




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

VIl. Consistency Analysis and Justification

The proposed FLUM amendment is consistent with the Future Land Use Element and other affected
elements of the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan. The following is a specific description of how
the proposed FLUM amendment is consistent with the significant subject areas of the Future Land Use,
Stormwater, Conservation, Recreation and Open Space, and the Capital Improvements Element of the

Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan:

Palicy 9.2
in the evaluation of proposed land use amendments for land in the “agricultura

residential” categories, the application shall demonstrate the following:
a. the need for such land use amendment;

b. the amendment will not result in urban sprawl;
c. a functional relationship of the proposed amendment to other more densely or intensely

!l}

or “rural

designated or development lands;
d. the availability of facilities and services for a more dense or intense land use; and e. the
relationship of the proposed amendment site to the urban development area boundary

Development of the proposed amendment area meets all four of those criteria. This amendment
shows that there is a need for additional housing and that the subject site’s location next to
existing industrial and other residential future land uses indicates that this proposal is not urban
sprawl. [t has a functional relationship to other properties with similar fand uses and does not
extend facilities and services outside of functional areas.

Policy 9.4
Land use plan amendments will not alter the boundaries of the various water and sewer service areas,

as depicted on the Water and Sewer Service Area Map, unless such alteration is pursuant to a
currently existing or subsequently entered into written agreement, entered into between the County,
a municipality or some other water and sewer service pravider, which governs such boundary change.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above requirement. The
proposed amendment is located in the Auburn area on the Water Service Area Map and the
Okaloosa County Sanitary Sewer Service area in the Future Land Use Element of the Okaloosa

County Comprehensive Plan.

STORMWATER ELEMENT

Policy 2.3
The LOS standards for stormwater management shall be:




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

a. Single-Family Detached Residential Subdivisions: Post development runoff shall not exceed
the pre-development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including
an event with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration;

b. All Other Development: The first one (1) inch of runoff from the property shall be retained on
the site of the development and post development runoff shall not exceed the pre-
development runoff rate for a twenty-five (25)-year storm event, up to and including an event
with a twenty-four (24)-hour duration; and

c. A “pop off” shall be provided for stormwater runoff beyond the ahove requirements. The
developers must provide a pop off to an outfall with adequate capacity to handle additional
stormwater runoff and must document that the pop off to the outfall has been authorized by
the owner of the outfall system. If no pop off is available the stormwater storage facility shall
be designed with a minimum capacity to retain a storm event of one hundred (100)-year
frequency up to and including a twenty-four (24)-hour duration for post development.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above stormwater
management guidelines and principles.

CONSERVATION ELEMENT

Objective 2
Conserve, appropriately use, and protect the quality of waters that flow into the bay, bayous, or Gulf

of Mexico through appropriate land use planning, regulation, and education and through cooperation
with environmental planning and regulatory agencies.

Policy 2.1
Increases in land use density and intensity shall be restricted within wetlands, and development in

wetland areas shall be subject to the following provisions:

a. Where sufficient uplands exist to locate the proposed development in the upland portion of
the site, the County may allow the transfer of development at the future land use densities
established on the Future Land Use Map from the wetlands to the upland portion of the site.
The transfer of density may occur provided all other plan provisions regarding upland and
floodplain resource protection, compatibility of adjacent land use, stormwater management
and sethacks, etc. are met.

b. Where sufficient uplands do not exist to avoid a taking, development in the wetlands shall be
restricted to allow residential density use at a maximum density of one (1) unit per ten (10)
acres, one (1) unit per five (5) acres, or one (1) unit per lot of record.

¢. The dwelling unit shall be constructed so that the lowest floor elevation is at least one (1) foot
above the base flood elevation as estahblished by the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps for
those wetlands that are also within the floodplains.




Willow Creek Plantation at Crestview
Comprehensive Plan Amendment
FLUM Application

d. Okaloosa County does not duplicate the rules of other environmental agencies. Therefore,
prior to construction in jurisdictional areas, all necessary permits must have been issued by

the agency or agencies having jurisdiction.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above requirement.

Policy 4.1
No development order or permit shall be approved if construction pursuant to the permit would

threaten the life or habitat of any species listed on the Federal Endangered Species Inventory or any
species designated "threatened" or "species of special concern" either by the State or Federal

governments.

Development of the proposed amendment area will adhere to the above language regarding
threatened and endangered species prior to getting any type of development approval.

RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE ELEMENT

Policy 3.4

In addition to open space provided through natural reservations, protected environmental lands, and
stormwater management areas, the County shall ensure open space through regulations in the Land
Development Code which shall contain requirements for open space in developments by use of

landscape and setback regulations.

Development will only be permitted on the most suitable parts of a development site, while
avoiding development of environmentally sensitive areas and also helping ensure compatible

amounts of open space.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT

Objective 5
Okaloosa County shall take specific action to coordinate the use of unincorporated land with capital

expenditures scheduled within the Comprehensive Plan Elements in order to accommodate future
anticipated population.

A complete public facilities analysis is included in Section VI of this report. Any impacts above
the adopted level of service standards will be mitigated for when the property is proposed for

development.




WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AM, ¢\, T

7

TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS
PREPARED FOR:
WILLOW GREEK PLANTATION AT CRESTVIEW, LLC

4037 PHELAN ROAD, SUITE A271
PHELAN, CALIFORNIA 92371

JUNE 2023




WILLOW CREEK PLANTATION
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT
TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

INTRODUCTION v e cieetrsierris e snas sttt ir s mamsse s smeisisesss sraas ds smrs st s £ rab e b et bab e tneaR S be 197040 APAT R AT n e bemas s 1
TRIP GENERATION .....ovotveieeerasinssrinseesinesstsnsesinnssessasassessscssms s sens sesssssin shas i dress sasesane st 1aaassarassssonrensessaedsn 2
PROJECT TRAFFIC DISTRIBUTION ... eecre e emsemese s sttt i e st s02an s e w s dmn e s msdd e i 2
STUDY AREA . ... iiiviirraeie st sschcae s brerasassss s e s ssces st deress v samses 458 F441 4B 0mnt a0 a0 Ba P20 303 8B e LR we 0004 A AR AR AR 4
EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS ... oottt rccimnmen i im st mais s e s snt s s shms s s snsa s st srusinns 5
FUTURE TRAFFIC CONDITIONS ... o sieesiaimiinencin s sorscsisrassn st e o e aasataansasess scsssasrsosses oo nisninassssassasson 5
Tyt L I A 1T 1)V OO T U 7
Long-Range ANGIYSIS ... conmmimmmmiiic i s s s ersnsismss i e as s sssesn s s snnnes 8
GONGLUSION ....ovvrevverersorrsaneesssesessenssssessssecsasssssnesssessssessseesas e sosneses s sesesenssss sesessss B ARLS n R8s £ s srss 9

LIST OF FIGURES
FIGURE 1: PROJECT LOCATION L.viimumiiicimnconenrcammianmins s imms s e rastncsinmmsss st assnsssssamsesinsssssvanss saiearsron 1
FIGURE 2: PROJECT TRAFFIC DISTRIBUTION. ..cvvirismsmeir s es s s s s scsses cssssanasssnsssisn cnses 3
LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. MAXIMUM DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL.....coniicit i niionniisinsis s s mrsseens 1
TABLE 2:  DAILY TRIP GENERATION ..ot siiniinimii s svim i s rassasimis s ssssssasmess e oassans 2
TABLE 3; PM PEAK-HOUR TRIP GENERATION ....vocres i s acma s ot imnsess e s mssesassnsenssms s 2
TABLE 41 STUDY AREA DETERMINATION ...ttt sstmcsss s s s nses s vsnsns s ssaec s 4
TABLE 5: EXISTING TRAFFIC DALY & PM PEAK-HOUR OPERATING CONDITIONS.....ovoovvviannnne 5
TABLE 6: HISTORICAL GROWTH RATES. ... s s s arssssccinsan s e smmsanss 5
TABLE 7. OKALOQSA COUNTY PROJECTED POPULATION GROWTH RATE....c..ierncncmvassneiniins 6
TABLE 8. 2028 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC DAILY & PM PEAK-HOUR OPERATING CONDITIONS ..... 7
TABLE & 2028 TOTAL TRAFFIC DAILY & PM PEAK-HOUR OPERATING CONDITIONS .......coenreiea. 7
TABLE 10: 2045 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC DAILY & PM PEAK-HOUR OPERATING CONDITIONS .....8
TABLE 11: 2045 TOTAL TRAFFIC DAILY & PM PEAK-HOUR OPERATING CONDITIONS ...........ooeium 8




LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A covv ettt senvassar st et et venmes e as st st seoeene e s eeos LEVEL-OF-SERVICE
CONTEXT CLASSIFICATION

MAXIMUM SERVICE VOLUMES

APPENDIX B vovvcvitiiicsvicncsmsesct oot semssesseveses s ssessesesasseconensanessessresses sessssssens FDOT HISTORICAL AADT

FDOT TRAFFIC TRENDS GRAPHS




INTRODUCTION

The applicant proposes to amend the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use
Map to change the land use designation of approximately 125 acres from Rural Residential
(RR) to Low Density Residential (LDR) on Parcel ID 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000. The subject
property is located off of Wayne Rogers Road south of CR 188 (Airport Road). The project
location is shown in Figure 1.

\\

\

///

Okaloosa County’s RR land use designation allows for a maximum of 2 units per acre.
Okaloosa County's LDR land use designation allows for a maximum of 4 units per acre, but will
be limited to 2 units per acre per a overlay policy. Table 1 shows the maximum development
intensities allowed under the for the existing and proposed land uses.

Table 1: Maximum Development Potential

X Land Use : Maximum Maximum
Scenario : : Acres J : j
Designation Density f Intensity Development
Existing RR 125 2 du/acre 250 dus
Proposed LDR 125 2du/acre 250 dus




As shown in Table 1, the land use category change resulis in the same density that can be
developed on the property. Even though the fand use change will result in the same future
development potential, the Impacts of the proposed uses for the property, if the land use
amendment were approved, were evaluated. Unlike a rezoning or site plan application, a
Comprehensive Plan Amendment application generally does not include a bulld-out hotizon
year since at the time of application such a year is typically unknown. In order to evaluate the
application beyond the current condifions, future short-term and long-range analysis periods
were evaluated. A five-year short-term analysis for the year 2028 and a lang-range analysis for
the horizon year of 2045 were conducted. This transportatior study is belng submitted in
support of the proposed amendment.

TRIP GENERATION

Trafflc volumes generated by the project were estimated using the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE), Trip Gensration — the 11" Edition {2021). Land Use Gods 210 (Single-Family
Detached Housing) was used fo estimats the dally and PM peak-hour trip generation potential.
The estimated dafly ttip generation is 2,344 vehicles per day (vpd) and the estimated PM peak-
hour trip generation is 235 vehicles per hour (vph). Table 2 shows the daily trip generation and
Table 3 shows the PM peal-hour trip generation.

Table 2 Dally Trlp Generatmn

5"'f;p§i‘|y'. ,Da[ly Da:inotaI Trips ,

Daily Trip Ratef

Equafmn i Eiiter | Bxit.

;f- Vﬂf‘labf_.:j.

ITE Land Use

Siglo Famly Detaohod PerUnit | 260 [ In(T)=0.92in(x) « 2.68 | 50% | 50% | 2,844 | 1,172 | 1,472
Houiglng - 210

Table 3: PM Peak-Hour Trip Generation
: B ' ' e PM Peak?np Rate! CPML P PM Peak’!‘utai’l‘rlps

Eriter ) Bxit [T7 7 o
' Tota’ri_-' Entar ;.Eggit.

fory, | variabis ."""'S‘iz@'l «i
P Spiit’| spit-| .o

Equat:on

Single-Family Detachad . - )
Houslng - 210 PerUnit | 280  |In(T)=0.94in(x) + 0.27 | 63% | 37% | 235 | 148 | 7

PROJECT TRIP DISTRIBUTION

Project traffic was distributed and assigned to the adjacent roadway hetwork using existing
iraffic volumes in the vicinity of the project. Traffic volumes from FDOT's Florida Traffic Onfine
were used to distribute the traffic. The project fraffic distribution Is shown in Figure 2. Onge the
distribution was determined, project traffic was assigned to all regulated roadways listed in
Okaloosa County's and the City of Crestview’s Comprehensive Plan.




Lop}

i)
w011

ul

.t”_.x,.uﬁm_ 7T )
AL

%01

o
[«
o
[
=

agg g

pda 009°g .r/

47 win\anry

g

:o;:n_bm_n_ u_tmL_._. wum_.o._m :Z ainbBi4

STy —

%02

_..a
pda QEH g
E. st o
e m =
%0¢ E g
z
=
AR s W
My
i,
3
M;Im.
2 5
M i ‘m
i) F
* w8
= =
s
b
T
Q
=
=4
A3 oy O\r Oh

wL.v. . T ! - !.
E e J.udwv a
: w..ac..‘ __,. : &
Pda 005zt %3?%5) al
U .t._a:E ‘ .
v I/,De o Pda00Zgl N
- 1] 2
m,.“ M > a.....
E £ g
- - = UQBOQQ mN %ﬂ :
% m.n gt buor £ = ..ﬂu
: 5 %\\ pda. acm 8z
al PAIB Neaming - @
uu J 2 ..1 -
@2 n.w. ..)_q.ﬂ
) g m.,w\ pdA 000'2Z
T %S| : g
: 2 pdagog‘s

.\ﬂ ,n %S m.\ oy

LHIPNEa PO

» T3
Cu._o u= .m. i
oy wod “e
pda.ooz'zL - 7 | %01 =M %
rd
o SPpe
...3.%%? ...ur. 5

B PN =MIg SYEY -

L

ng
B




STUDY AREA

The study area consists of regulated roadway segments for which project traffic is expected to

consume at least 5% of either the maximum daily or peak-hour level-of-service standard and/or

in which the project has direct access to. The Okaloosa County and the City of Crestview
Comprehensive Plans were used to obtain roadway segmentation and level

-of-service

standards. Maximum service volumes were obtained from the Florida Department of
Transportation (FDOT) Quality/Level-of-Service Generalized Tables. The results of the study

area determination are provided in Table 4 and demonstrate that two segments meet the
significance threshold criteria. Level-of-service, context classification, and maximum service

volume documentation is proved in Appendix A.

Table 4: Study Area Determination

Road Name | Context (— Fiobied L(_)'S, Pér(fé”t i -New P;qjeFt' qpafc i Siéﬁfﬁqér‘:t AR
aﬁd Ségment Class |08 P 5.e_r\{me Volume| Project Da‘ily PM lf'gak "’/{, Impact? . Acvce.s.s‘_?
; Std Daily | PkHr | Traffic[ Trips Trips | Impact | ( 25%) | ¢

CR 188 (Airport Rd / Old Bethel Rd)

SR 85to SR 85 c2 D 2 14,000 | 1,330 | 70.0% 1,641 165 12.4% Yes Yes

SR 85 to US 90 c2 D 2 14,000 | 1,330 | 5.0% 117 12 0.9% No No
Fairchild Road

US 90 to CR 188 [ c2 [ b [ 2 [14000] 1,3% | 30.0% | 703 7| 83% [ ves Yes
SR 85

US 90 to CR 188 C3C D 4 36,600 | 3,290 | 55.0% 1,289 129 3.9% No No

CR 188 to 2-Lane Section Cc2 C 4 45,800 | 4,350 | 10.0% 234 24 0.6% Na No
US 90 (SR 10)

Antioch Rd to Fairchild Rd Cc3ac D 2 36,800 [ 3,290 | 20.0% 469 47 1.4% No No

Fairchild Rd to Walton County Line c2 C 2 8,200 780 10.0% 234 24 31% No No




EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS

Existing traffic volumes were obtained from FDOT count station data along each roadway
segment within the study area. Existing PM peak-hour volumes were calculated by multiplying
the annual average daily traffic (AADT) volume by FDOT's Standard K of 8.0%. A review of the
existing conditions indicates that all rcadway segments in the study area are currently operating
within acceptable level-of-service standards. Table & summatizes the existing daily and PM
peak-hour operating conditions. The FDOT AADT is attached in Appendix B.

Table 5 Exlsﬁng Trafflc Daily & PM Peak—Hour Operating Cundltions

= - " Adopted LOS" HECSE
T Road Name S roeres Servics Volume EXISme 'rraﬁ‘c Exf;g_aia'q;is[
o, and Segment | [ Lanes )= A 1os?.
L i C8td: ) Datly | Pl HE Da]ly |Pm Peak- IR
CR 183 (Airport Rd ! OId Bethei Rd)
SR 86 1o SR 85 | o | {14000 f 1,330 | 7,000 | 630 | No
Fairchild Road
US 90 to CR 188 | b ] l14000] 1330 | 1700 | 153 | Ne

FUTURE TRAFFIC CONDITIONS

Unlike a rezoning or site plan application, a Comprehensive Plan Amendment application
generally does not include a build-out horizon year since at the time of application such a year is
typically unknown. In order to evaluate the application beyond the current conditions, future
short-term and long-range analysis periods were evaluated. A five-year short-term analysis for
the year 2028 and a tong-range analysis for the horizon year of 2045 were conducted.

Future year traffic volumes were developed using a combination of historical annual average
daily traffic (AADT) volumes within the study area, and poputation projections from the Bureau
of Economic and Business Research (BEBR) for Okaloosa County. Historical growth rates were
obtained using AADT volumes from FDOT Portable Monitoring sites 570289 and 570304.
FDOT's Traftic Trends Version 3.a was used to calcufate the historical growth rate and growth
rate to the horizon year. The results are summarized in Table & and the historical AADT and

traffic trends graphs are provided in Appendix B,

Tahle 8: Hlstorlca! Growth Rates

S Roa d (Lacatlgsni 20223,‘“-_’-- Histqricai G'fﬂw:: ,R.ate Avefage
R L AADT*- - Growth Ra’te LU Grow‘th Rate
N _ . Des:gn Year
CR ’}86 ('1 400'E of SR 85) 570289 7, 000 0.67% 0.50% 0. 63%
Falrahild Rd (400" N of US 80) | 5703804 1,700 -3.44% -7.25% -5,35%
WEIGHTED AVERAGE =0.13% 3.94% -0.54%




BEBR population projections for 2020 and 2046 were obtalned from FDOT's Demographic and
Commuting Trends Analysis webslte, The BEBR population profections for Qkaloosa County
are summarized in Table 7 and the Florida Population Projections table is provided in

Appendix B.

Table 7: Gkaloosa County Projected Population Growth Rate
s it 2020 BEBR T 2045 BEBR | Projacted

- County: dtion || Populatioi |\ Grovth "
RS ion: | Projéction "|* - 'Raté - -
Ckaloosa 203,600 242,300 0.76%

A 1.0% annual growth rate was used to forecast the future traffic voiumes within the study area,
The 1.0% annual growth rate was based on the BEBR population projections rounded to the

nearest 0.5%.




Short-Term Analysis

Using a 1.0% annual growth rate, the existing traffic conditions were grown to the year 2028,
The 2028 shori-term background analysis indicates that all roadway segments within the study
area are anticipated to continue to operate within acceptable level-of-service standards. Table &
summarizes the 2028 short-term background dally and PM peak~hour operating conditions.

Tahle 8: 2028 Background Traffic Dally & PM Peak-Hour Dperafmg Conditions

i Adopted LOS. 2023 Background )
- LGS L }Befvice Vqlqme Trafﬁc E:ge;fs
R LI AT TR Bt Lq,n'_e' Baily’ I Pk Hf-, Daily lPM Feak' .
CR 188 {Airport Rd / Old Bothe! Rd}
SR 85 to SR 85 | o | 2 [44000] 1,330 | 7400 | 688 | No
Falrehlid Road
US 90 to CR 188 | b ] 2 [44000] 1330 ] 180 | 162 | No

Project traffic was added to the background fraffic conditions in 2028. For the purposss of this
analysis, the full development intensity was added {o the short-lerm analysis. The 2028 {otal
traffic short-term analysis indicates that all roadway segments within the study area are
anticipated to continue to operate within acceptable level-of-service standards with the addition
of the proposed amendment’s traffic. Table 9 summarizes the 2028 short-term total daily and
PM peak-hour operating conditions.

Tab[e 9: 2028 Total Traffic Daliy & PM Peak-Hour Operatmg Conditions

.5 o o, .Adopled LOS™ " ;12028 Backgreund | " 2028 Projest: [ 2028Total '
- aand Segment . :.- LOS Lana;s Serv!r.a Volume :‘f. :" - > Trafﬁ‘g,- Trafﬁc . Etgesegs
: 2| st ‘Daly | PkHr | .D{ilJ.V:'IPM P..eak Dally/ TeM Peak Dalfy_ [PM Peak
CRI%E {Alrport Ral T O Eafrol Rd)
SR 85 to SR &85 [ b | {14000] 1,380 | 7400 | eea | 041 | 165 | 904 | 833 | No
Fairchild Road
U3 90 to CR 188 [ b | [14000] 1,330 | 4800 | 162 | w8 | 71 | 2808 | 233 | Mo




Long-Range Analysis

Agaln, a 1.0% annual growth rate was used fo estimate the 2045 background traffic volumes.
The 2045 long-range background analysis indicatos that all roadway segments within the study
area are anficipated fo confinue fo operate within acceplable level-of-service standards.
Table 10 summarizes the 2045 long-range background traffic dally and PM peak-hour operating
conditions.

Table 10: 2045 Background

Traffic Daily & PM Peal-Hour Operating Condition

B i B S T
1 ard Segmart © L | LOS i Serice Volumg_; Traffe, . | FEERCHS
Ty A BY .o UL _,[_J,éjly-‘l Pk Hr jiDaiEy};'-lPM Poak|.-. ...«
CR 188 (Alrport Rd / Old Bethel Rd)
SR 85 to SR 85 [ P | 2 [14000] 1330 sgoo [ 775 | e
Fairchild Road
US 90 to CR 188 | D | 2 [4000] 1330 | 2400 | 1ea | o

Project traffic was added tfo the background traffic conditions in 2045. The 2045 long-range
analysis indicates that all roadway segments within the study area are anticipated to continue to
operate within acceptable level-of-service standards with the addition of the proposed
amsndment’s traffic. Table 11 summarizes the 2045 long-rarige total traffic daily and PM neak-
hour aperating conditions.

Table 11: 2045 Total Traffic Daily & PM Peak-Hour Operating Conditions

T A

S [ e AdOpled 1OS, ¢ o ] 9045 Background| .- 2048 Project. | - 2045 Tofal
o8l Servics Volig| - Avalfe: 0 Teatie L Traffig. ¥
. ..':. anes . )“_‘;'-.-.-_-:.' — . ,'-\.. . . - Ly "'- - — 3 -.i. .'.',.,“ |...‘.

St | S patlyt] Pk R T Dally [P Peak -Dally  [PM P&ak]. Dally [PM Pozk|:

GR 188 (Airport Rd { Old Bathel R

SR &5 to SR 85 | 0] 2 140007 %300 [ 6600 | 776 | 760 [_165 ] 10241 | 040 | T
Fairchild Road
US 90 to CR 188 | D[ 2 [14000] 1,330 [ 2100 | 488 | 7 T 7 [ 2808 | 269 {7 No




CONGLUSION

The applicant proposes to amend the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use
Map to c¢hange the land use designation of approximately 125 acres from Rural Residential
(RR) to Low Dernsity Residential (LDR) on Parcel ID 01-3N-23-0000-0003-0000. The proposed
Future Land Use category Is estimated to generate 2,344 daily trip ends and 235 PM peak-hour
two-way trip ends. As the capaciy analysis documented in this report indicates, the
Comprehensive Plan Amendment is not anticipated to create any future roadway deficiencies
within the study area for the 2028 short-ferm or 2045 long-range planning horizons.




APPENDIX A

LEVEL-OF-SERVICE
CONTEXT CLASSIFICATION
MAXIMUM SERVICE VOLUMES



APPENDIX B

FDOT HISTORICAL AADT

FDOT TRAFFIC TRENDS GRAPHS



AGENDA ITEM 2
PLANNING COMMISSION

AGENDA REQUEST

September 14, 2023

TO: Honorable Chairman and Members of the Planning Commission
FROM: Randy Woodruff, AICP, Deputy Director
SUBJECT: 536316-BCC-2023 and 536318-BCC-2023, Request for Plan Amendment

and Rezoning; as presented by Seaside Engineering, agent.
BCC DISTRICT:  (3) Commissioner Nathan Boyles

PLANNING COMMISSION DISTRICT: (3) Jeremy Stewart, Chairman

PUBLIC HEARING: Consideration of a request changing the use of land submitted by Seaside
Engineering on behalf of Lucy C. McClendon, owner, relating to a portion of parcel 31-4N-24-
0000-0003-0070, for property located at 1275 Georgia Avenue, Baker, Florida. The request is to
change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation for the subject
property from Low Density Residential (LDR) to Commercial (C), or a more restrictive
FLUM designation. If the FLUM amendment is approved, request to rezone the property from
Residential-1 (R-1) district to General Commercial (C-3), or a more restrictive zoning district.
The subject property contains 0.96 acres, more or less.

STAFF FINDINGS:

e The proposed FLUM amendment is classified as a Type — 2 Plan Amendment which
involves properties 50 acres or less in size. Type — 2 amendments do not require
transmittal to the State Planning Agency for review.

o The subject property, located at 1275 Georgia Avenue, Baker, Florida, is 0.96 acres in
size and currently vacant.

o The subject property is bordered by State Road 4 (Georgia Avenue) to the south, single-
family residence to the north, a hanger to the east, and single-family residences to the
west.

e The applicant has filed applications with the County to amend the Future Land Use Map
(FLUM) designation for the subject property to Commercial (C) and to rezone that
portion of the subject property to General Commercial (C-3). The applicant proposes to
add the subject property, 0.96 acres, to the adjacent commercial (C-3) property to the east
for future commercial development (Exhibit 1 — Applicant Letter of Petition).



TABLI 1 — FLUM & ZONING DESIGNATIONS

FLUM DESIGNATION ZONING DESIGNATION
SUBJECT |Low Density Residential | Residential-1 (R-1)
PROPERTY | (LDR)
NORTH Low  Density Residential | Residential-1 (R-1)

(LDR)
SCUTH State Road 4 (Georgia | State Road 4 (Georgia

Avenue) Avenue)
EAST Commercial (C) General Commercial (C-3)
WEST Low  Density Residential | Residential-1 (R-1)

(LDR)

The subject property is located within the Low Density Residential (ILDR) Future Land Use
Category and the Residential-1 (R-1) Zoning District. The Low Density Residential (LDR)
Future Land Use designation provide areas for the for the protection of residential neighborhoods
and for future low density residential development. The Residential-1 (R-1) zoning district is to
provide areas for the purpose for single-family detached residential dwellings, customary
accessory uses, and limited non-residential uses.

The applicant is proposing to change the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM)
designation for the property from Low Density Residential (LDR) to Commercial (C). The
Commnercial (C) Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation provides areas for conducting
business activities for profit including retail sales, services, or offices.

If the FLUM amendment is approved, the applicant is requesting to rezone the property from
Residential-1 (R-1) to General Commercial (C-3). The purpose of the General Commercial
(C-3) zoning district is to provide areas for intensive commercial uses involving conducting
business, professional, service, or government which generally do not involve the manufacture of
new products from raw materials. The General Commercial (C-3) zoning district does allow for
medium intensity residential (10 dwelling units per acre) as a permitted use.

The subject property is located outside the Urban Development Boundary (UDB).
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS:

Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan, Future Land Use Element, Policy 4.3

Policy 4.3 recognizes the importance of design in mitigating potential incompatibility conditions
through the site plan review process. In particular, it empowers Okaloosa County to requite
various mitigation techniques including variable buffers, placement and design of open space
and landscaping, and consideration of lighting design and placement to avoid glare. In addition,
it recognizes the concept of varying setbacks based on the height of buildings. The applicant
proposes to add the subject property, 0.96 acres, lo the adjacent commercial (C-3) property to
the east for future commercial development. The aforementioned mitigating techniques will be
addressed during the Development Order review process.

2



Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan, Future F.and Use Element, Policy 4.4

Policy 4.4 Compatibility of adjacent zoning districts shall be considered during rezoning and
land use plan amendments, considering potential maximum densities, intensities, and consistency
of the potential land uses with surrounding districts, and the manner in which the land uses on
the FLUM and the zoning districts result in an appropriate transition of uses, densities, and
intensities: The Applicant is proposing to change the existing Future Land Use Map (FLUM)
designation and the zoning of the subject property from Low Density Residential (LDR) (FLU)
and Residential-1 (R-1) zoning district to Commercial (C) (FLU) and General Commercial (C-3)
zoning district. The applicant proposes to add the subject property, 0.96 acres, to the adjacent
commercial (C-3) property to the east for future commercial development. The applicant has not
submitted a proposed site development plan to date. Any future development plans shall be
required to undergo the county’s Development Order review process. The subject property is
bordered by State Road 4 (Georgia Avenue) to the south, single-family residence to the north, a
hanger to the east, and single-family residences to the west. Staff hereby determines that the
proposed Small Scale Plan Amendment is consistent with current development patterns, adjacent
zoning districts and maximum intensities of the surrounding properties to the maximum extent
possible,

Traffic Analysis

A Traffic Analysis was not submitted as part of this application. However, a traffic analysis will
be required as part of the Development Order Application review and approval.

PUBLIC COMMENT/OPPOSITION: No public comment nor opposition was received for
536316-BCC-2023 and 526318-BCC-2023.

PUBLIC NOTICE: The proposed agenda item was properly advertised in the Northwest Florida
Daily News on August 30, 2023; and public notice, via certified, return-receipt letters, were
provided to all property owners within 300-foot radius per Section 1.11.02, of the Okaloosa
County Land Development Code (see Attachment H).

STAFF POSITION: Staff has no objection to the proposed FLUM Amendment, Rezoning;
herein referenced as 536316-BCC-2023 and 536318-BCC-2023,

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Board consider the facts presented herein,
as well as any facts that may be presented at the public hearing, and then make two (2) separate
recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners, with the Future Land Use Map
Amendment being first as follows:

First Motion: Recommend approval of an ordinance changing the Future Land Use Map
(FLUM) designation for a portion of the subject property, legally described as 31-4N-24-0000-
0003-0070 from Low Density Residential (LDR) to Commercial (C), or a more restrictive
FLUM designation.



Second Motion: Recommend approval of an ordinance changing the zoning designation for a
portion of the subject property, legally described as 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, from
Residential-1 (R-1) to General Commercial (C-3) district, or a more restrictive zoning district.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS: Public hearing by the Board of County
Commissioners is {entatively scheduled for October 3, 2023.

ATTACHMENTS:

A — Location Map

B — Aerial Photo

C — Existing Land Use Map

D — FLUM/Zoning Map

E — Proposed FLUM/Zoning Map
F -1 Mile FLUM/Zoning Map

G — GIS Analysis

H - Legal Advertisement

I — Future Land Use Ordinance

I — Rezoning Ordinance

EXHIBIT:
1 — Applicant Letter of Petition

2 —FLU & Rezoning Applications
3—No objection letters



ATTACHMENT

A

A portion of parcel # 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070
77 l 3 \\ | g i )

N L 3 j - *




ATTACHMENT
B

e S v "
by .« %

il %é;.-

'[ _____ | Parcel Lines

Aerial Photo



ATTACHMENT
C

A portion of parcel # 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070

VACANT/RES

0.405222

=

VAC INSTIT
2.390763

CROPLAND C
96.077717

VACANT
2.516386

ACANT/RES
1.356555

SINGLE FAM
0.833544

MOBILE HOM
0.431428

/ ICE SH ]

SINGLE FAM
VAcoA :;8678 ki

Existing Land Use Map

MFR HOME P
0.859351 ,//
‘SINGLE FAM




ATTACHMENT

A portion of parcel # 31

7 PR SIS : :
\ SUBJECT PROPERTY e

FLUM & Zoning Map



ATTACHMENT

E
=4N=-£24-0U000-0005-00/0

A DOI'TION O1 b&a

" SUBJECT PROPERTY |

ZONE Legend
I —

LDR R-1

B vu I B v
Proposed FLUM & Zoning Map




SUBJECT PROPERTY

OR
Fr

FLUM Legend

RR

OR

rom:

ATTACHMENT

F

i
T
79711 | | L]
Bl

ZONE Legend

RR -MU B
R-1 I rEC
B o

FLUM & Zoning Map



GIS ANALYSIS RESULTS

Date: 8/222023

Project; A portion of parcel # 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070

Permit: 536316-BCC-2023 & 536318-BCC-2023 - I,UCY MCLENDON

Property Address: LOCATED AT 1275 GEORGTA AVE BAKER FL 32531

Zoning: R-1

Proposed Zoning: C-3

FLU: LDR

Proposed FLU: C

Fire District: BAKER Commissioner District: 3 Census Tract; 20100

Soil Type: 38 —Bonifay Sand — 5 to 8% slope, well drained, permeability is rapid in the surface and subsurface
layer, landfills or septic tanks should have limitations

45 - Orangeburg Sandy loam ~ @ to 2% slopes, well drained permeability is moderately rapid in the upper part
moderate in lower parts of the soil.

Wind Zone: LESS THAN 140

Flood Zone: NO Map Number: 12091C0 145]
Storm Surge Area: NO

Urban Development Area: NO Water Efficient Area: NO
Wells: None

Environmental Data: NO Historical Data: None

Wetlands: Uplands

Water and Sewer: BWS Within 3 mile of an Airport: NO



H

ATTACHMENT




ORDINANCE 23- Attachment |

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OKALOOSA
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND
USE MAP, ORDINANCE 90-01 AS AMENDED:;
CHANGING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP
DESIGNATION OF A PORTION THEREOF PARCEL
31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070 FROM LOW DENSITY
RESIDENTIAL (LDR) TO COMMERCIAL (C); SAID
PARCEL LOCATED AS SHOWN ON ATTACHMENT
A; REPEALING ALL  ORDINANCES OR
PROVISIONS THEREOF IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida to which Chapter
125 of the Florida Statutes grants broad authority and provides for the adoption of ordinances to
provide for self-governance: and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 of the Florida Statutes requires that all local governments adopt and
maintain comprehensive plans to manage growth within their jurisdictions, consisting of several
clements as well as a map depicting the future uses of land throughout the jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 provides processes through which a local government’s comprehensive
plan and future land use map may be amended from time to time; and

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County adopted, and has from time to time amended, Ordinance 90-01 that
establishes the Okaloosa County Comprehensive Plan including its various elements and Future

Land Use Map: and

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA:

Section 1. This ordinance shall be referred to as the 536316-BCC-2023 Future Land Use changing
the Future Land Use Map designation of a certain portion of real property owned by Lucy C.
McClendon, Property Id Number 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, more particularly depicted as shown
on Attachment A attached hereto.

Section 2. The Okaloosa County Future Land Use Map is hereby amended to change the
designation of the parcels of real property as shown in Attachment A attached hereto from Low
Densuty Residential (LDR) to Commercial (C).



Section 3. This ordinance does hereby repeal any ordinances, or portions thereof, in conflict
herewith.

Section 4. Should any word, phrase, sentence, section, subsection, or other provision of this
Ordinance be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, or
unconstitutional, then the part so held shall be severed from this Ordinance and the remainder of
this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 5. The effective date of the Future Land Use Map amendment authorized by this
Ordinance shall be as provided in section 163.3187, Florida Statutes.

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED in this ___ day of , 2023,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMSSIONERS
OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Robert A. “Trey” Goodwin III,
Chairman

ATTEST:

I.D. Peacock II
Clerk of Circuit Conrt

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Lynn M. Hoshihara
County Attorney



Attachment ;

A
A portion of parcel # 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070




ORDINANCE 23 - Attachment ]

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OKALOOSA
COUNTY LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE,
ORDINANCE 91-01, AS AMENDED, CHANGING THE
ZONING OF A PORTION THEREOF PARCEL 31-4N-
24-0000-0003-0070 FROM RESIDENTIAL-1 (R-1) TO
GENERAL COMMERCIAL (C-3); SAID PARCELS
LOCATED AS SHOWN ON ATTACHMENT A;
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PROVISIONS
THEREOF IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING
FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida to which Chapter
125 of the Florida Statutes grants broad authority and provides for the adoption of ordinances to
provide for self-governance: and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163 of the Florida Statutes requires that all local governments adopt and
maintain comprehensive plans to manage growth within their jurisdictions, consisting of several
elements as well as a map depicting the future uses of land throughout the jurisdiction and requiring
the adoption of land development regulations to regulate growth and development; and

WHEREAS, Okaloosa County adopted, and has from time to time amended, Ordinance 91-01 that
establishes the Okaloosa County Land Development Code as required by Chapter 163 of the
Florida Statutes to implement the Comprehensive Plan; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 2 of the Okaloosa County Land Development Code establishes the various
zoning districts and includes maps depicting locations of the various zoning districts throughout

the County; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 125 of the Florida Statutes establishes the authority and procedure by
which a County may amend the zoning applied to properties; and

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners Finds that it is necessary and in the public
interest to amend the Okaloosa County Land Development Code to change the zoning of parcel
07-3N-24-0000-0019-0000 as provided herein.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA:

Section 1. This ordinance shall be referred to as the 536318-BCC-2023 Rezoning changing the
Zoning designation of a certain portion thereof of real property owned by Lucy C. McClendon,



Property Id Number 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, more particularly depicted as shown on
Attachment A attached hereto.

Section 2. The Okaloosa County Zoning Map is hercby amended to change the designation of the
parcel of real property as shown in Attachment A attached hercto from Residential-1 (R-1) to
General Commercial (C-3).

Section 3. This ordinance does hereby repeal any ordinances, or portions thereof, in conflict
herewith.

Section 4. Should any word, phrase, sentence, section, subsection, or other provision of this
Ordinance be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, or
unconstitutional, then the part so held shall be severed from this Ordinance and the remainder of
this Ordinance shall remnain in full force and effect.

Section 5. The effective date of the Future Land Use Map amendment authorized by this
Ordinance shall be as provided in section 163.3187, Florida Statutes.

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED in this __ day of , 2023,

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMSSIONERS
OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Robert A. “Trey” Goodwin III,
Chairman

ATTEST:

J.D. Peacock I
Clerk of Circuit Court

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Lyno M. Hoshihara
County Attorney



Attachment
A

A portion of parcel # 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070

_

AN

SUBJECT PROPERTY ]

5\\\\\

)
m
]
]
2,
s
>




B

v

SEAS

Seasios Enaineening Anp SuRvering, LLG,

wn

August 14, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Management
812 E James Lee Blvd
Crestview, FL 32539

Re: Request for Rezoning

Dear Sir or Madam,

On behalf of Lucy C. McLendon and as her authorized agent, I am requesting a change in the
zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/ R-1 to Commercial/ C-3 for a portion of
parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275 Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

The purpose of this action is to divide and redistribute the proposed parcel to match the zoning
and future land use of the family-owned adjacent properties to the east, accessing the parcel via
State Rd. 4. These adjacent properties are identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-0010 and
001B. The intention of this application is to have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-
3, and FLUM changed to commercial, matching the current zoning of the above referenced
adjacent properties.

Sincerely, - ;
il
/ ot S [V /

James B. Mainor, PLS
Agent for Lucy C. McLendon

Encl: Application for Amendment

6575 HWY 189 N, Baker, Florida 32531  Phone (850) 650-9563 Fax (850) 398-6812



SEAS

Sezasine Encingering AND SURVEYING, LLG.

August 14, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Management
812 E James Lee Blvd
Crestview, FL 32539

Re: Request for Rezoning
Dear Sir or Madam,

On behalf of Lucy C. McLendon and as her authorized agent, I am requesting a change in the
zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/ R-1 to Commercial/ C-3 for a portion of
parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275 Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

The purpose of this action is to divide and redistribute the proposed parcel to match the zoning
and future land use of the family-owned adjacent properties to the east, accessing the parcel via
State Rd. 4. These adjacent properties are identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-0010 and
001B. The intention of this application is to have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-
3, and FLUM changed to commercial, matching the current zoning of the above referenced

adjacent properties.

Sincerely,

James B. Mainor, PLS
Agent for Lucy C. McLendon

Encl: Application for Amendment

6575 HWY 189 N, Baker, Florida 32531  Phone (850) 650-9563 Fax (850) 398-6812



MA

YA AL BHIL- 7975

OKALOOSA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
GROWTH MANAGEMENT APPLICATION FOR
FUTURE LAND USE MAP TYPE - 2
AMENDMENT

(LESS THAN 10 ACRES)

April, 2005

A. Applicant Information

1. Name: _Michael Cole Granger, PE Agentfor:  Lucy C. McLendon
. ’ Seaside Engineering & Surveying, LLC

2. Address: 6575 Hwy 189 N
Baker, FL 32531

3. Telephone: 850-650-9563 FAX:

4. Applicant is: Property owner Owners authorized agent*
* Verification of authorized agent must be attached

9. Owner’'s name, address and telephone, if different than applicant:
Lucy C. McLendon

4140 Lynn Ora Dr., Pensacola, FL 32504 Ph. 850-450-3375

B. Property Information
6. Location: 1275 Georgia Ave., Baker, FL 32531

8. Current use of property: Residential

9. Proposed use of property: Commercial

10. Size of property: +-0.96AC (sq. ft. or acres)

11. Names/Number of adjacent roads: North N/A
East N/A South State Rd 4 West N/A

C. Euture Land Use/Zoning Information
12. Existing Future Land Use Map designation: LDR

13. Existing zoning district; District 3/ R-1




D. Requested Action

14. Reason for the requested amendment:

To divide and redistribute an existing parcel to match adjacent properties for future development

Please see SEAS survey of parcel 3 and 4A to be split from above mentioned property ID

15. Requested amendment:
FROM R-1/LDR (FLUM designation)

TO GC3/C (FLUM designation)

E. Certification

| do hereby certify and affirm that the information represented in this application
is true and correct to the best of my knowledge. | also give my permission for
county staff to enter upon the property involved at any reasonable time for
purposes of site inspections and the posting of any required notices.

Applicant prin{ed or typedwrfame

\

Y 1 0 /' ) L YWY oD
Applicant signature ! Date
Corporate officer Corporate Seal
FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY
Date received: File No.:
Received by:




S53 \T - P 200

OKALOOSA COUNTY
DEPARTMENT OF GROWTH MANAGEMENT
APPLICATION FOR REZONING

A. Applicant Information

1. Name: "So\m\“g ‘; mﬁ\;.ﬂw ﬁ,— LUC}/ ( AVCLM,JL_._

2. Address: 6575 Hwy 8o A/
%bbff F gase|
3. Telephone: (8 Q’)é §0-95S  Fax-

4. Applicant is: Property owner Owners authorized agent*

* Verification of authorized agent must be attached

5. Owner's name, address and telephone, if different than applicant:
LU CV C Lb-u L

4140 Lym  0rs e, Posocde f1 52504 (850)450 53

B. Property Information
6. Location: 129¢ (r;e.».»f,;l, Ave % r-‘~"°$ Fo 3253/ ~
7. Property ID Number: 3 AN 24 oty 0003 - 000 A()cﬁ‘f,'w Flore]

8. Current use of property: Q(fgrﬁhé](l‘vl - 1
9. Proposed use of property: ( (?MMQ."({;F‘"
+ 3 s
10. Size of property: /’ 0.9¢ A‘L (sq. ft. or acres)

11. Names/Num/b}gr of adjacent roads: North N /A
East M South S"Fsﬂ“h’ £d 4 West N f'ﬂ

C. Future Land Use/Zoning Information

12. Existing Future Land Use Map designation: 0P

13. Existing zoning district: Qv"

REVISED AUG 20, 2013-MR



D. Requested Action

14. Reason for the requested rezoning:

To_Avide oyl Medictrrbele  mn exisflae pore( do anchl

md%ﬂq‘y\"‘% {}l’“c;ﬁjf"‘\;-tj 'F:f“ “Vrf"'f“lm a{(w{%ﬂ?wﬂl__ ‘

15. Requested rezoning: 0
FROM - , (zoning district)
TO Copmparrelo | 3 (zoning district)

E. Certification

| do hereby certify and affirm that the information represented in this application
is true and correct to the best of my knowledge. | also give my permission for
county staff to enter upon the property involved at any reasonable time for
purposes of site inspections and the posting of any required notices.

'Slawxﬁi @ Wlm}w—-'

Applicant printed or typed name

N Ph— 0423

Applicant %ignature Date

Corporate officer Corporate Seal
FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Date received: File No.:

Received by:

REVISED AUG 20, 2013-MR



August 21, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Management
812 I James Lee Bhvd
Crestview, FL 32539

Re: Approval for Rezoning Request
To Whom it may Concern,

I, JOSHUA JEETER would like it known that as the legal propexty owner of 1273 GEORGIA
AVE, BAKER FI, 32531 Corresponding Parcel ID# 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0060, do hereby
offer my consent and approval for the rezoning request made by Lucy C. McLendon to change
the zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/ R-1 to Commercial/ C-3 for a portion of
parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275 Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

I amn aware that the purpose of this request is to divide and redistribute the proposed parcel to
match the zoning and future land use of the family-owned adjacent properties to the east,
identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-0010 and 001B. The intention of het application is to
have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-3, and FLUM changed to commercial,
matching the current zoning of the above refetenced adjacent properties and I take no exception
to this request.

Sincerely,

, -~ -
L. . Y2323
~JOSHUA JEETER Date

Notary Public State of Floride
‘ Lauras Garrett

4

4

{ My Commisslon WH 383429
Ll Expires 5/8/2027 |
4 - e e g

Subsc:rg'}aed and sworn to before me this
day of 2023,

AU O%Am 2
OTARY PUBLIC SEAL

—————



Angust 21, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Management
812 E James Lee Blvd
Crestview, FL 32539

Re: Approval for Rezoning Request

To Whom it may Concern,

We MARGARET M JETER & KELLY G LAWSON would like it known that as the legal
property owners of 1265 GEORGIA AVE, BAKER, FL 32531 Corresponding Parcel ID#
31-4N-24-0000-0003-0000, do hercby offer our consent and approval for the rezoning request
made by Lucy C. McLendon to change the zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/
R-1 to Commercial/ C-3 for a portion of parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275
Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

We are aware that the purpose of this request is to divide and redistribute the propoesed parcel to
match the zoning and future land use of the family-owned adjacent properties to the east,
identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-0010 and 001B. The intention of her application is to
have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-3, and FLUM changed to commercial,
matching the current zoning of the above veferenced adjacent properties and we fake no
exception to this request.

Sincerely,

%/ﬁ@f@@ 7 /;;@g r

MARZARET JETER Date
Ko LoudSsonn X0Y-23

KELLY G LA}?SON Daté

P S ST W g e N e R 8

! Notary Public State of Floﬁd:t

i Laura Garrett
i My Commisslon HH 380424
i it Expitas Slsfao2r |

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

SEAL



August 21, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Managerent
812 E James Lee Blvd
Crestview, FL. 32539

Re: Approval for Rezoning Request

* To Whot it may Concern,

I, KELLY G HAMM would like it known that as the legal property owner of 1269 GEORGIA
AVE, BAKER FL 3253] Corresponding Parcel ID# 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0100, do hereby
offer my consent and approval for the rezoning request made by Lucy C. McLendon to change
the zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/ R-1 to Comumnercial/ C-3 for a portion of
parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275 Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

I am aware that the purpose of this request is to divide and redisiribute the proposed parcel to
match the zoning and future land use of the family-owned adjacent properties to the east,
identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-001C and 001B. The intention of her application is to
have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-3, and FLUM changed to commercial,
matching the current zoning of the above referenced adjacent properties and I take no exception
to this request,

Sincerely,

KELLY HAMM

Notary Public State of Floride

i auta Gareetl r
{ My Commission HH 363429
Expites s8/2027 |

l

Subscribed and swi)m to before me this

A4 A day of. { ,2023,
\};_k:m/zg& ?(ZM h fﬁ""’ﬁ“
NOTAR

Y PUBLIC SEAL




August 21, 2023

Okaloosa Growth Management
812 E James Lee Blvd
Crestview, FL 32539

Re: Approval for Rezoning Request

To Whom it may Concern,

We ANTHONY SCOTT & VICKIE H JETER would like it known that as the legal property
owpers of 1271 GEORGIA AVE. BAKER, FL 32531 Corresponding Parcel ID#
31-4N-24-0000-0003-0040, do hereby offer our consent and approval for the rezoning request
made by Lucy C, McLendon to change the zoning and FLUM from Low Density Residential/
R-1 to Commercial/ C-3 for a portion of parcel 31-4N-24-0000-0003-0070, located at 1275

Georgia Ave., Baker, FL.

We are awate that the purpose of this request is to divide and redistribute the proposed patcel to
match the zoning and fafire fand use of the family-owned adjacent properiies to the east,
identified as parcel 06-3N-24-2760-0009-0010 and 001B. The intention of her application is to
have the proposed parcel re-zoned to commercial C-3, and FLUM changed to commercial,
matching the curtent zoning of the above referenced adjacent properties and we take no
exception to this request,

Sincerely,

it ot w24/ 2%
ANTHONY JETER Date

e, 0 9-24. 43
VICKIE JETER Date

Nataty Public State of Flotlds:

{

4 Laura Garrstt !
[ My Commission MH 363428
4 - Expires 51812027

'I . . .

Subscribed and sworn to before me this
1 & - 2003,

2]

SEAL



